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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

I. The Florida Bar v. Wendell Terry Locke, The Florida Bar Initial 
File No. 2018-50,508 (17A), The Florida Bar Second File No. 2018-
50,518 (13F) 

 
The Oath of Admission to The Florida Bar expressly provides that the 

Respondent “will abstain from all offensive personality and advance no fact 

prejudicial to the honor or reputation of a party or witness, unless required 

by the justice of the cause with which I am charged.”14  The Respondent was 

required to do so in this instance.  Certain statements made that were 

deemed objectionable by the referee were required and necessary by the 

justice of the cause.  The cause was the common law right of judicial access 

to records, and the right of access to the courts by lawyers advocating for 

victims of civil rights violations.  The Florida Bar filed its Complaint against 

the Respondent because The Florida Bar takes issue with the Respondent’s 

statements concerning the bias of a federal judge in a civil rights case, the 

Respondent’s attempt to see the judicial directive concerning the civil rights 

case being reassigned to that federal judge and the Respondent filing a 

lawsuit against the Clerk to gain access to information he is legally entitled 

to concerning the reassignment.  The Respondent’s right to practice law and 

 
14 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 3. 
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advocate in the courts is really what is at issue, as the case law permits the 

conduct of the Respondent and is not sanctionable.15 

In this case, on January 12, 2018, the United States of America 

prompted The Florida Bar to initiate an investigation of the conduct of the 

Black attorneys in a federal court case involving violations of civil rights.16  

The Black attorneys were the Respondent and Kelsay Patterson, Esq. 

(“Patterson”).  The United States of America did not prompted The Florida 

Bar to investigate the conduct of the Caucasian attorneys in that case.17  On 

January 19, 2018, The Florida Bar sent a letter to the Respondent 

concerning the United States of America’s complaint.18  The matter was 

initially assigned the Initial File No. 2018-50,508 (17A).19  The Respondent 

timely responded to The Florida Bar’s January 19, 2018, letter.20  On 

March 20, 2018, the Respondent was copied on a correspondence from The 

Florida Bar, advising the recipient that her committee would further 

investigate the Respondent through disposition.21  This correspondence 

 
15 See United States v. Figueroa-Arenas, 292 F.3d 276, 280-281 (1st Cir. 
2002). 
16 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 82. 
17 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 82. 
18 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
19 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
20 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
21 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
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changed the file number to a new Florida Bar File No.: 2018-50,508 (13F), 

evidencing that it was around this period of time that The Florida Bar steered 

the investigation away from the grievance committee in the Seventeenth 

Judicial Circuit, which is where the Respondent resides and his law practice 

is located, to the grievance committee in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit.22  At 

no point did the Respondent have any connection to the Thirteenth Judicial 

Circuit, and at no point was the underlying Civil Rights Case litigated in the 

Thirteenth Judicial Circuit.23  The Florida Bar then sent the Respondent the 

Notice of Assignment of Investigating Member, dated April 17, 2018.24   

On May 16, 2018, after the Respondent contacted The Florida Bar 

telephonically concerning why his case was before the grievance committee 

in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit rather than the grievance committee in the 

Seventeenth Judicial Circuit where the Respondent lives and his law practice 

is located, the Respondent contacted The Florida Bar in writing, inquiring 

about why he was being investigated by the grievance committee in the 

Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, and when said investigation would be transferred 

to the grievance committee in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit where the 

 
22 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
23 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 8. 
24 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
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Respondent lives and his law practice is located.25  On May 17, 2018, The 

Florida Bar responded, stating that she supposedly did not know why the 

Respondent’s case was being investigated by the grievance committee in 

the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, and that the case would not be transferred 

back to the grievance committee in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit.26 

On March 25, 2019, The Florida Bar sent the Respondent a 

correspondence concerning the grievance committee’s anticipated vote to 

determine whether probable cause was present.27  On April 25, 2019, the 

Respondent sent a letter to The Florida Bar concerning the May 9, 2019, 

committee review.28  On May 3, 2019, The Florida Bar denied the 

Respondent’s request to appear in front of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit’s 

grievance committee.  On May 6, 2019, the Respondent sent a letter to The 

Florida Bar supplementing his written response.29 

The grievance committee in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit did what the 

Respondent thought it would do – find probable cause – based on The 

Florida Bar steering the investigation away from the grievance committee in 

 
25 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
26 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
27 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
28 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
29 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
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the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit to the grievance committee in the Thirteenth 

Judicial Circuit.   

On November 12, 2019, The Florida Bar filed the formal Complaint 

against the Respondent in the Supreme Court of Florida.30  Also on 

November 12, 2019, the Possible Venue was filed by The Florida Bar 

identifying only Broward and Orange Counties as possible venues.31  Also 

on November 12, 2019, The Florida Bar filed the Notice of Related Cases 

identifying The Florida Bar’s case against the other Black attorney in the Civil 

Rights Case (Patterson) – The Florida Bar v. Kelsay Dayon Patterson, SC 

Case No.: 2018-10,412 (13F).32  The Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of 

Florida designated the Honorable Lawrence M. Mirman, Chief Judge of the 

Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, which covers Martin, Saint Lucie, 

Indian River and Okeechobee Counties, to appoint a referee to preside in 

the disciplinary action brought against the Respondent.33  The Respondent 

neither resided nor was his law practice located in the Nineteenth Judicial 

Circuit, and the Civil Rights Case was not litigated in the Nineteenth Judicial 

Circuit.34  On November 13, 2019, Chief Judge Mirman appointed the 

 
30 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 1. 
31 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 2. 
32 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 3. 
33 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 5. 
34 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 8. 
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Honorable Elizabeth A. Metzger as referee to preside in the disciplinary 

action brought against the Respondent.35  Judge Mirman sat as a circuit 

judge in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida.36 

On November 30, 2019, the Respondent’s Motion to Transfer This 

Disciplinary Action to Broward County or in the Alternative to Orange County 

was filed.37  The Respondent filed his Answer and Motion for a More Definite 

Statement on December 3, 2019.38  On December 4, 2019, the Supreme 

Court of Florida terminated the November 13, 2019, Order designating 

Judge Mirman to appoint a referee over the proceeding against the 

Respondent.39  Also on December 4, 2019, the Supreme Court of Florida 

also granted the Respondent’s motion to transfer to Broward County.40  Also 

on December 4, 2019, the Supreme Court of Florida designated the 

Honorable Jack B. Tuter, Jr., Chief Judge of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit 

of Florida, to appoint a referee to preside over the case against the 

Respondent.41  On December 6, 2019, Chief Judge Tuter appointed the 

Honorable Ernest A. Kollra as referee to preside in the disciplinary action 

 
35 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 6. 
36 See Amended Index of Record, Tab 6. 
37 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 8. 
38 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 11. 
39 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 13. 
40 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 12. 
41 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 14. 



 7 

brought against the Respondent.42  On December 18, 2019, Judge Kollra 

was also appointed as referee to preside in the disciplinary action brought 

against Patterson, even though at all relevant times Patterson resided in 

Hillsborough County, his law practice was located in Hillsborough County, 

he questioned the venue and, two days prior, the Honorable Jose Izquierdo 

of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit had been appointed as the Referee in the 

disciplinary action brought against Patterson.43  The Respondent’s case was 

now postured to be heard by the same referee that would hear Patterson’s 

case, as Patterson’s questioning of the appropriate venue for him went 

ignored. 

During discovery in this disciplinary proceeding, the Respondent 

sought to depose Judge Mendoza.44  The Respondent had a subpoena for 

deposition duces tecum issued by the referee for Judge Mendoza to appear 

for deposition on March 18, 2020.45  Judge Mendoza made himself available 

for deposition in his courtroom at the George C. Young Federal Annex 

 
42 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 15. 
43 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 3; see also The Florida Bar v. Kelsay 
Dayon Patterson, Case No.: SC 19-2070, Order Appointing Circuit Judge 
Jose Izquierdo as Bar Referee, dated December 17, 2019; see also 
Respondent’s Notice Regarding Venue, dated December 18, 2019; see also 
Order of Termination and Appointing Successor Bar Referee, dated 
December 18, 2019. 
44 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 35-36, 41. 
45 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 41. 
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Courthouse, but limited his availability for deposition to 90 minutes.46  

However, Judge Mendoza did not produce the documents requested in the 

subpoena for deposition duces tecum issued by the Referee.47 

In Judge Mendoza’s March 18, 2020, deposition, the Respondent 

confirmed what he had concluded based on the trial docket, the statement 

from the Clerk’s Office, the statement from Judge Mendoza’s judicial 

assistant and the Respondent’s experience – the case reassignment was in 

fact done improperly, thus supporting the Respondent’s argument that Judge 

Mendoza lacked exclusive jurisdiction over the Civil Rights Case and that all 

Orders entered by Judge Mendoza were void.48   

Specifically, Judge Mendoza testified that the Local Rules were not 

suspended for purposes of reassigning the case to him from Judge 

Honeywell.49  Judge Mendoza further testified that he neither saw nor was 

aware of a Standing Order signed by the Chief Judge or any other judge 

reassigning the Civil Rights Case from Judge Honeywell to Judge 

Mendoza.50  Judge Mendoza further testified that Judge Honeywell never 

 
46 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 64, lines 24-25; pg. 65, lines 1-8; 
pg. 70, line 25; pg. 71, lines 1-2. 
47 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 9, lines 13-25; pg. 10, lines 1-2. 
48 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 34 (concurring opinion).  
49 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 21-22. 
50 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 15-16. 
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reassigned the Civil Rights Case to Judge Mendoza.51  In fact, Judge 

Mendoza properly confirmed in his testimony that in order for Judge 

Honeywell to have reassigned the Civil Rights Case to Judge Mendoza, he 

would have had to consent to the reassignment, and at no point did he ever 

consent to the reassignment.52  Judge Mendoza further testified that he and 

Judge Honeywell never discussed the Civil Rights Case being reassigned to 

Judge Mendoza.53  As it related to the Respondent’s efforts to obtain the 

record of judicial action, Judge Mendoza testified that he spoke to Clerk 

Warren after she received the January 28, 2018 FOIA request from ALAN 

& LOCKEPLLC, a law firm with no connection to the Civil Rights Case, 

that he (Judge Mendoza) saw said FOIA request sent to Clerk Warren, that 

he (Judge Mendoza) conducted his own independent research concerning 

said FOIA request to Clerk Warren and he (Judge Mendoza) even saw Clerk 

Warren’s response to said FOIA request.54  Judge Mendoza also confirmed 

 
51 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 24-25. 
52 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 24-25. 
53 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 25.  This very issue was a sticking 
point in the oral argument before the Eleventh Circuit, which occurred prior 
to Judge Mendoza’s deposition in this disciplinary proceeding.  Specifically, 
the Eleventh Circuit’s position was that it was possible for the reassignment 
to have occurred by a conversation that the record would not reflect, and that 
Local Rule 1.03(d) did not mandate that the reassignment occur by written 
Order. 
54 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 32-34. 
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in his deposition that he saw ALAN & LOCKEPLLC’s April 4, 2018, 

correspondence to Clerk Warren requesting access to the same information 

pursuant to the common law right of access to judicial records, a doctrine 

recognized throughout the United States federal courts, including those 

within the Eleventh Circuit.55  Lastly, Judge Mendoza made himself available 

for deposition, even though he could not be compelled to attend, only 

because he was the agent of the United States of America that directed The 

Florida Bar to investigate the conduct of the Black attorneys in the Civil 

Rights Case and was concerned about the scrutiny if he did not make appear 

for deposition.56   

During discovery in this disciplinary proceeding, the Respondent also 

sought to depose and compel for the Final Hearing both Judge Honeywell 

and Clerk Warren.57  The Respondent had a subpoena for deposition duces 

tecum issued by the Referee for Judge Honeywell to appear for deposition 

on March 25, 2020, and a subpoena for deposition duces tecum issued by 

the Referee for Clerk Warren to appear for deposition on November 23, 

2020.58  Judge Honeywell and Clerk Warren were properly served with their 

 
55 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 100. 
56 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22, pg. 38-39. 
57 See Amended Record of Index, Tab. 46-47, 83. 
58 See Amended Record of Index, Tab. 46-47, 83. 
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respective subpoenas for deposition duces tecum.59  Judge Honeywell did 

not appear for her deposition, nor did she produce the documents requested 

in the subpoena for deposition duces tecum issued by the Referee.  Instead, 

Judge Honeywell responded to receiving the subpoena for deposition duces 

tecum on March 12, 2020, stating that “your request for testimony from me 

is denied.”60  Similarly, Clerk Warren responded to being served with the 

subpoena for deposition duces tecum issued on November 9, 2020, stating 

that the Chief Judge of the Middle District had determined “not to authorized 

my testimony or the disclosure of the federal judicial records sought in the 

subpoena.”61   

On November 21, 2020, the Respondent filed Respondent’s Motion to 

Disqualify Referee (17th Judicial Circuit Court Judge Ernest A. Kollra, Jr.) 

because on November 11, 2020, the Respondent located the Report of 

Referee on Findings of Fact and Guilt authored by the Honorable Ernest A. 

Kollra, Jr. in the case of The Florida Bar v. Kelsay Dayon Patterson, Case 

No.: SC19-2070.62  In that Report of Referee on Findings of Fact and Guilt, 

the Honorable Ernest A. Kollra, Jr., had unfavorably pre-judged certain 

 
59 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibits 36-37. 
60 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 37. 
61 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 36. 
62 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 88. 
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material issues – disputed issues of fact and law – before the Respondent’s 

Final Hearing and that the Referee was impermissibly prejudiced and/or 

biased against the Respondent.63  Also around late November 2020, The 

Florida Bar moved for live video witness testimony for Bonner.64  The final 

hearing was scheduled to take place in Broward County, which is where the 

Respondent resides and is where the Respondent’s law practice was and 

remains located.65   

On November 30, 2020, the Referee granted The Florida Bar’s motion 

to permit Bonner to testify via live videoconference (ZOOM) during the Final 

Hearing.66  Also on November 30, 2020, despite the plethora of evidence 

and case law supporting disqualification, on November 30, 2020, the 

Referee denied the Respondent’s motion to disqualify as “legally 

insufficient.”67 

On December 1, 2020, The Florida Bar moved to allow a second 

witness (Walker) to also appear via live video at the final hearing.68  Believing 

that the Referee would grant The Florida Bar’s motion requesting that Walker 

 
63 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 88. 
64 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 84. 
65 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 80, 98. 
66 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 90. 
67 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 91. 
68 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 97. 
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be permitted to appear for the final hearing by video-conference, as well as 

permit Flood and Judge Mendoza to also appear for the final hearing by 

video-conference if sought by The Florida Bar, on December 2, 2020, after 

learning from The Florida Bar that Bonner and Walker would appear in 

person if the final hearing were held in Orlando, the Respondent moved to 

transfer the final hearing from the Broward County to Orange County.  On 

December 2, 2020, the Referee granted the Respondent’s motion to transfer 

the final hearing to the Orange County Courthouse in Orlando, Florida.69   

 The final hearing took place in Orlando from December 7, 2020, 

through December 9, 2020.70  The Florida Bar’s witnesses that testified at 

the final hearing were Walker and Judge Mendoza on December 7, 2020, 

and Flood and Bonner on December 8, 2020.71  The Respondent testified on 

December 9, 2020.72  The Florida Bar’s exhibits admitted into evidence were 

those identified in The Florida Bar’s Final Exhibit List.73  The Respondent’s 

exhibits admitted into evidence were Exhibits Nos. 1-15, 17-19, and 22-104, 

on Respondent’s Final Exhibit List, filed November 30, 2020.74  

 
69 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 99. 
70 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 99. 
71 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
72 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
73 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 93. 
74 See Amended Record of Index, Tab. 96. 
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The Report of Referee on Findings of Fact and Guilt was entered by 

the Referee on February 1, 2021.75  Despite the evidence proving otherwise, 

the referee found the Respondent guilty of violating the following: Rule 3-4.3 

(Misconduct and minor misconduct); Rule 4-1.7 (Conflict of Interest; Current 

Clients); Rule 4-3.1 (Meritorious Claims and Contentions); Rule 4-3.2 

(Expediting Litigation); Rule 4-3.4(c) (Fairness to Opposing Party and 

Counsel); Rule 4-3.5(c) (Impartiality & Decorum of the Tribunal); Rule 4-

8.2(a) (Impugning the Integrity of Judicial Official); and Rule 4-8.4(d) 

(Misconduct).76  The referee recommended a 90-day suspension for the 

Respondent after considering the mitigating factors of the absence of a prior 

disciplinary history, absence of a dishonest or selfish motive, timely good 

faith effort to rectify the consequence of the purported misconduct, the 

Respondent’s full disclosure and cooperation with the proceedings, his 

compliance with the federal court’s sanctions, and the emotional trauma and 

race-related PTSD stemming from a long history of being exposed to racism 

in Florida.77 

 
75 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 110. 
76 See Amended Record of Index, Tab. 110. 
77 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
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On March 12, 2021, The Florida Bar served its Amended Motion to 

Assess Costs.78  At the hearing, the referee questioned The Florida Bar 

concerning the ridiculously-high cost of the transcripts for the final hearing, 

and the Respondent argued that not only was the cost of the transcripts 

outrageous, but also that the transcripts were not a necessary expense of 

The Florida Bar and that all the costs sought to be paid by the Respondent, 

totaling $13,622.80, had not been authenticated as required under Rule 3-

7.6.79  The referee granted The Florida Bar’s motion to assess costs.80 

On March 17, 2021, the Respondent was served with the Record 

Index.81  The Respondent timely filed his unopposed motion to supplement 

the record to include the following: (1) transcript of the December 2, 2020, 

status conference hearing which included argument on Respondent’s motion 

to amend responsive pleading; (2) transcript of the final hearing, dated 

December 7, 2020, through December 9, 2020; (3) transcript of the sanction 

hearing, dated March 1, 2021; (4) transcript of the costs hearing, dated 

March 15, 2021; (5) Clerk Warren’s written response to the agreed 

subpoena; and, (6)  Judge Honeywell’s written response to the Order on 

 
78 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 116.  
79 See Respondent’s Appendix. 
80 See Amended Record of Index, Tab. 117. 
81 See Amended Record of Index, Tab 118. 
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Respondent’s Motion for Referee to Issue Discovery Subpoena.82  On 

June 10, 2021, the Referee granted the Respondent’s unopposed motion to 

supplement the record.83 

The Florida Bar timely filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Review of 

Report of Referee, and the Respondent timely file Respondent’s Cross-

Notice of Intent to Seek Review of Report of Referee. 

II. The Underlying Civil Rights Case 
 

The underlying civil rights case was brought in the United States 

District Court for the Middle District of Florida (the “Civil Rights Case”), and 

involved the brutal killing of yet another unarmed Black male at the hands of 

law enforcement.  The decedent, Preston Bussey, III (the “Decedent”), was 

a hospital patient that had been committed under Florida’s Baker Act before 

being killed.  The Decedent’s mother, J. Pearl Bussey-Morice, was appointed 

as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Preston Bussey, III (“Bussey-

Morice”). 

The case was initially assigned to District Judge Mary S. Scriven 

(“Judge Scriven”).  On December 11, 2011, the case was reassigned from 

Judge Scriven to District Judge Charlene E. Honeywell (“Judge Honeywell”) 

 
82 See Amended Record on Index, Tab. 120. 
83 See Amended Record of Index, Tab. 121. 
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pursuant to a written court order signed by the chief district judge.84  At the 

time of filing the initial complaint, through the filing of all amended complaints, 

and through the completion of discovery, Bussey-Morice was represented 

solely by Patterson.85  

During the discovery period, Joseph Flood, Esq., and Joshua Walker, 

Esq., counsel for the individual officers (“Flood” and “Walker,” respectively) 

were not sanctioned for failing to respond to written discovery despite the 

matter being brought before the district court.86  Patterson filed a complaint 

with The Florida Bar concerning the circumstances surrounding Flood’s and 

Walker’s failure to respond to written discovery, including Walker’s illegal 

conduct of changing an officer’s interrogatory answers after the officer 

signed the jurat page and said jurat page had been notarized.87   

Patterson’s Bar complaint concerning Flood and Walker was 

investigated by the grievance committee from the Ninth Judicial Circuit 

where Flood’s and Walker’s law practices were located.88  The Florida Bar 

chose not to discipline Flood and Walker, even though they still have not 

 
84 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, DE 96. 
85 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, 42. 
86 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 8-12.  The Officers’ verified interrogatory 
responses remain outstanding, but the trial court did not sanction the 
Officers’ counsel. 
87 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 9, 12-13. 
88 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 11, 14-15. 
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responded to that written discovery in now more than 10 years.89  During the 

discovery period, Walker also falsely accused Patterson of assault, and 

procured and filed in the Civil Rights Case false affidavits from two of the 

individual defendants. 

The Respondent entered his appearance in the Civil Rights Case as 

co-counsel representing Bussey-Morice on May 17, 2012, which was after 

the discovery deadline.90 

Pursuant to the Case Management and Scheduling Order, parties’ 

lead trial counsel were required to participate in the “Meeting In Person to 

Prepare Joint Final Pretrial Statement.”91  Patterson was lead trial counsel 

for Bussey-Morice.92  The Respondent also attended the meeting.”93 

 The Respondent filed Plaintiff’s Emergency Motion for Extension of 

Time to File Joint Pretrial Statement, dated October 10, 2012, after it became 

apparent to him that Patterson, Bussey-Morice’s lead trial counsel, would not 

timely complete Bussey-Morice’s portion of the Joint Final Pretrial Statement 

before the October 10, 2012, deadline.94  After conferring with defense 

 
89 See Respondent’s Appendix, pg. 82-89. 
90 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 2. 
91 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 5. 
92 See Respondent’s Appendix, Day 3. 
93 See Petitioner’s Trial Exhibit 6. 
94 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 45. 
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counsel, the Respondent supplemented the motion by filing Plaintiff’s Notice 

of Local Rule 3.01(g) Conference Regarding Plaintiff’s Emergency Motion 

for Extension of Time to File Joint Pretrial Stipulation.95   

On October 17, 2012, the trial court granted the emergency motion 

filed by the Respondent, but sanctioned Bussey-Morice.96  It was during the 

October 17, 2012, hearing that Judge Honeywell directed the Respondent to 

convey to Patterson, who did not attend said hearing, that certain written 

submissions – accusations – would not be tolerated.97 

 On October 22, 2012, the parties went to mediation.98  The 

Respondent met Bussey-Morice in person for the first time at the mediation.99  

At that mediation, the Respondent told Bussey-Morice that she had been 

wrongfully sanctioned by the trial court because of the Joint Final Pretrial 

Statement issue, that said monetary sanctions could not be legally enforced 

against her, that she would never have to pay said sanctions, and that if all 

else failed, the Respondent and/or Patterson would pay said sanctions.  The 

Respondent also sent a correspondence to Bussey-Morice, dated October 

23, 2012, to memorialize the conversation that the Respondent had with 

 
95 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 46. 
96 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 47, 50. 
97 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 50. 
98 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, DE 369. 
99 See Respondent’s Appendix, Day 3. 
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Bussey-Morice at the mediation, including her consent to proceed with any 

arguments available, provided she did not have to pay the sanction.100   

Prior to the trial court ruling on pending motions in limine, the Court 

entered an Order granting summary judgment in favor of the City and, 

separately, in favor of five of the police officers.101  Two of the officers were 

denied qualified immunity by the trial court.102  On March 10, 2013, the two 

officers filed an interlocutory appeal to the Eleventh Circuit.103  On October 1, 

2014, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the trial court.104  The trial court 

subsequently entered Final Judgment in favor of the City and all officer.105   

Less than two weeks after Final Judgment was entered by Judge 

Honeywell, the Civil Rights Case was reassigned again, this time from Judge 

Honeywell, a Black federal judge, to District Judge Carlos E. Mendoza 

 
100 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 51. 
101 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 69. 
102 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 69. 
103 See DE 490; see also Bussey-Morice v. Gomez, 587 Fed. Appx 621 (11th 
Cir. 2014)(the “First Appeal”). 
104 On April 12, 2013, after also appealing the March 8, 2013, Order from the 
United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, Bussey-Morice’s 
voluntarily dismissed her appeal without prejudice in Case No. 13-11057-A 
because an order granting summary judgment to some of the defendants 
based on qualified immunity is not a final order under 28 U.S.C. § 1291 when 
claims remain against other defendants.  See Winfrey v. The School Bd. of 
Dade Cty., 59 F.3d 155, 158 (11th Cir. 1995). 
105 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, DE 504. 
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(“Judge Mendoza”), a Hispanic federal judge, for post-trial issues.108  

However, unlike the reassignment of the Civil Rights Case from Judge 

Scriven to Judge Honeywell, which was done by a Standing Order entered 

by the chief judge, or other case reassignments done by Court Order in the 

Middle District of Florida, the reassignment of the Civil Rights Case from 

Judge Honeywell to Judge Mendoza failed to comply with 28 U.S.C.§ 137, 

Local Rule 1.03 and applicable case law.109 

Bussey-Morice’s Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment was filed on 

January 25, 2015, based on newly discovered evidence.110  On May 13, 

2015, Judge Mendoza denied Bussey-Morice’s Amended Motion to Vacate 

Judgment, concluding that said motion was frivolous.111   

On January 12, 2018, Judge Mendoza entered an Order making the 

following rulings relevant to issues on appeal before this Court: 

Ø denying the Kennedy Sanction Motion as to sanctions under 
Rule 11 (for purportedly frivolous claim), entitling Bussey-
Morice to attorney’s fees and costs from Officer Kennedy’ 
counsel; 

Ø denying Officers Leverich’s, Owens’, Williams’ and 
Herberners’ Motion as to sanctions under Rule 11 (for 

 
108 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, DE 516.  The questionable 
reassignment – a reassignment occurring in a manner inconsistent with 28 
U.S.C. § 137, Local Rule 1.03 and case law – went unnoticed until 2018. 
109 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 88. 
110 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 71. 
111 See The Florida Bar’s Trail Exhibit 56. 
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purportedly frivolous claim), entitling Bussey-Morice to 
attorney’s fees and costs from Officers Leverich’s, Owens’, 
Williams’ and Herberners’ counsel; 

Ø granting the City Sanction Motion #2 as to sanctions under 
Rule 11 as to Bussey-Morice’s Amended Motion to Vacate 
Judgment; and 

Ø granting the Officers’ Rule 11 motion as to Bussey-Morice’s 
Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment.112 

The January 12, 2018, Order also directed the Clerk’s Office to forward the 

Order to The Florida Bar to investigate the Black attorneys in the case for 

their conduct that occurred prior to the suspicious reassignment of the case 

to Judge Mendoza.115 

The Respondent immediately began reviewing the record for 

appealable issues and noticed for the first time that the case the Clerk’s 

Office and/or members of the Clerk’s staff reassigned the case from Judge 

Honeywell to Judge Mendoza without a court order, which differed from how 

the case was previously reassigned from Judge Scriven to Judge Honeywell 

and how other federal cases the Respondent has litigated had been 

reassigned.116  The Respondent was compelled to look into that after having 

been denied due process on multiple instances by Judge Mendoza in the 

case since taking over the case.   

 
112 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 82. 
115 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 82. 
116 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99-101.  
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On or about January 16, 2018, the Respondent called the Clerk’s 

Office to inquire about the case reassignment, and was told that they would 

investigate and return the call.117  Within minutes of completing that call with 

the Clerk’s Office, the Respondent received a call from Judge Mendoza’s 

courtroom deputy clerk inquiring about the Respondent’s inquiry concerning 

the reassignment.  Judge Mendoza’s deputy clerk told the Respondent that 

the case was reassigned pursuant to a Standing Order, but immediately 

retracted that explanation when the Respondent requested a copy of it.118  

Judge Mendoza’s deputy clerk then told the Respondent that the case was 

reassigned from Judge Honeywell to Judge Mendoza based on an e-mail 

from the chief judge.119  The Respondent requested a copy of that e-mail, 

but was told by Judge Mendoza’s deputy Clerk, and against by the Clerk’s 

Office, that the e-mail would not be produced.120 

On January 26, 2018, the Respondent filed motions for attorney’s fees 

as the prevailing party on Rule 11 motions filed by the defendants, entitling 

them to attorney’s.121 

 
117 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99-101. 
118 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99-101. 
119 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
120 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
121 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, DE 617-619. 
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On January 28, 2018, the law firm of Alan & LockePLLC 

sent a FOIA request to the Clerk’s Office, requesting access to the records 

concerning the reassignment of the case from Judge Honeywell to Judge 

Mendoza.122   

On February 9, 2018, prior to making any court filings, the Respondent paid 

the sanctions ordered by Judge Mendoza.123  Also on February 9, 2018, the 

Respondent filed Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration.124  Four days after 

filing Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration, the Respondent amended 

Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration by filing Plaintiff’s Notice of Withdrawal 

of Portion of Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration, dated February 13, 2018, 

withdrawing Section II – The Law of the Case Doctrine Precludes Changing 

Prior Ruling After Final Judgment.125 

On February 21, 2018, the Clerk’s Office responded to Alan & 

LockePLLC’s FOIA request, stating that FOIA did not apply to the 

Judicial Branch.126  On April 4, 2018, Alan & LockePLLC sent a 

second letter to the Clerk’s Office, requesting access to the records 

concerning the reassignment of the case from Judge Honeywell to Judge 

 
122 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 100. 
123 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 102. 
124 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 83. 
125 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 84. 
126 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 100. 
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Mendoza under the common law right of access to judicial records.127  The 

Clerk’s Office did not respond to Alan & LockePLLC’s second 

letter.128  Instead, the Clerk’s Office intentionally mischaracterized Alan 

& LockePLLC’s second letter as a motion, and on April 18, 2019, the 

Clerk’s Office electronically filed Alan & LockePLLC’s second 

letter as a motion to disqualify Judge Mendoza.129 

Contrary to the plain language of Local Rule 3.01(f) and FED. R. CIV. P. 

7(b), which expressly prohibits letters from being considered as motions,  on 

August 27, 2018, Judge Mendoza entered an Order accepting the Clerk’s 

mischaracterization of Alan & LockePLLC’s second letter as 

Bussey-Morice’s motion to disqualify and, in that Order, denied said 

disqualification.130  Judge Mendoza also awarded defense counsel attorney’s 

fees as the prevailing party on their Rule 11 motions, but denied awarding 

the Respondent and Patterson attorney’s fees as the prevailing party on 

separate Rule 11 motions.131 

 
127 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 100. 
128 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
129 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
130 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
131 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
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On August 27, 2018, Bussey-Morice filed her Notice of Appeal.132  The 

Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on September 20, 2018, adding the 

Respondent and Patterson as appellants.133   

On August 26, 2019, the Eleventh Circuit entered a single-paragraph, 

non-published per curiam affirmed opinion based on the evidence available 

in the record.134  The Eleventh Circuit did not have the benefit of reviewing 

the deposition transcript of Judge Mendoza from this proceeding where he 

stated under oath that Judge Honeywell did not reassign the Civil Rights 

Case to Judge Mendoza (a requirement of Local Rule 1.03(d)), that Judge 

Mendoza did not consent to the case being reassigned to him (a requirement 

of Local Rule 1.03(d)), that a Standing Order reassigning the case to him 

(Judge Mendoza) had not been issued by the chief judge (a requirement of 

Local Rule 1.01(c)) and that Judge Mendoza did not know otherwise how the 

Civil Rights Case was reassigned to him.135 

III. Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Petition for 
Writ of Mandamus in Banc 

 
In an attempt to retrieve the court directive pertaining to the unusual 

reassignment of the Civil Rights Case to Judge Mendoza, the Respondent 

 
132 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, DE 645. 
133 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1, DE 647. 
134 See The Florida Bar’s Trial Exhibit 82. 
135 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22. 
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filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the Eleventh Circuit.136  The Eleventh 

Circuit panel, consisting of Circuit Judges Gerard Bard Tjoflat and Elizabeth 

L. Branch, denied the Petition for Writ of Mandamus.137  The Respondent 

then filed a Petition for Rehearing En Banc, arguing that the panel’s decision 

was contrary to the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth and 

Ninth Circuits and contrary to the precedents of the Eleventh Circuit.138  The 

same panel, in its discretion, construed the Petition for Rehearing En Banc 

as a motion for reconsideration, and denied said motion.139 

IV. Complaint of Judicial Misconduct or Disability 

The Respondent filed a Complaint of Judicial Misconduct or Disability 

with the Judicial Council of the Eleventh Circuit (the “Judicial Council”) 

against Judge Mendoza and then-Chief Judge Anne Conway.140  In the 

Complaint of Judicial Misconduct or Disability with the Judicial Council, the 

Respondent alleged that Judged Mendoza and Conway violated various 

Canons of the Code of Conduct for United States Judges.141 

 
136 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 88. 
137 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 88. 
138 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 88. 
139 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 88. 
140 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 91. 
141 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 91. 
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 On August 7, 2019, the then-acting Chief Judge Honorable Gerald 

Bard Tjoflat, who also sat on the panels in the appeal of J. Pearl Bussey-

Morice v. Patrick Kennedy et al., Appeal No.: 18-13627-H and the petition 

for writ of mandamus in In re Wendell Terry Locke, Appeal No.: 19-10949-D, 

dismissed the Complaint for the Judicial Council, concluding that the 

allegations were “directly related to the merits of a decision or procedural 

ruling.”142  The Respondent exercised the option of petitioning for review the 

Judicial Council’s dismissal of the Complaint of Judicial Misconduct or 

Disability, dated March 26, 2019, because the violations of the specific 

Canons identified in the Complaint were not addressed.143  The Judicial 

Council affirmed Judge Tjoflat’s dismissal.144 

V. Wendell Locke v. Elizabeth Warren, as Clerk of Courts for the 
United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, 
Case No.: 19-cv-61056-RKA 

 
Prior to deposing Judge Mendoza in this proceeding, in an attempt to 

retrieve the court directive pertaining to the unusual case reassignment of 

the Civil Rights Case to Judge Mendoza, on April 25, 2019, the Respondent 

filed suit against Clerk Warren in the United States District Court for the 

 
142 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 91. 
143 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 91. 
144 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 91. 
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Southern District of Florida.145  To invoke subject matter jurisdiction, one of 

the pleading requirements was to allege ultra vires conduct of Clerk 

Warren.146  District Judge Roy K. Altman granted Clerk Warren’s motion to 

dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction after having taken judicial notice 

of the brief and ruling in the appeal of the underlying action.147  However, 

under FED. R. EVID. 201, the trial court was obligated to afford the 

Respondent a hearing on the propriety of taking judicial notice and 

afford the Respondent limited discovery.148  The Respondent filed a 

motion for rehearing pointing that out.149  Rather than afford the Respondent 

limited discovery and the hearing he was entitled to, Judge Altman amended 

 
145 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
146 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99; see also Denson v. United States, 574 
F.3d 1318, 1348 (11th Cir. 2009). 
147 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
148 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99; see also Gottfried v. Germain (In re CP 
Ships Ltd. Sec. Litig.), 578 F.3d 1306, 1309 (11th Cir. 2009)(“In a factual 
challenge, ‘the district court must give the plaintiff an opportunity for 
discovery and for a hearing that is appropriate to the nature of the motion to 
dismiss.’”)(citing Williamson v. Tucker, 645 F.2d 404, 414 (5th Cir. 1981)); 
see also Leon v. Cont’l AG, 301 F. Supp.3d 1203, 1212 (S.D. Fla. 2017)(“[A] 
plaintiff must have ample opportunity to present evidence bearing on the 
existence of jurisdiction.”).    Because the trial court evaluated Clerk Warren’s 
motion to dismiss as a factual challenge under FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(1), the 
Respondent was also entitled to notice and an opportunity to respond to the 
factual challenge raised by the Court (Due Process) and, specifically, an 
opportunity to conduct limited discovery and participate in a hearing for 
purposes of resolving the purported factual challenge to subject matter 
jurisdiction. 
149 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
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the Order granting the motion to dismiss by un-taking judicial notice.150  The 

Respondent appealed, but later dismissed the appeal after deposing Judge 

Mendoza.  Infra. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The referee’s report and recommendation must be dismissed for a 

number of reasons.  First, fundamental error occurred, resulting in the 

Respondent being denied access to a fair and impartial tribunal, denied due 

process and compulsory process, and denied equal protection under the law 

in this proceeding.  It casted doubt on the validity of this disciplinary 

proceeding against the Respondent because the outcome could not have 

happened without the errors.  

In this proceeding, fundamental error also occurred because of the 

intentional steering of this proceeding to certain people from the outset to 

obtain a desired result, whether it was the investigating grievance committee 

not connected to whether the Respondent lived or worked, the initial 

assigning of a referee from a jurisdiction unconnected to where the 

Respondent lived or worked, the assigning of a referee over the 

Respondent’s disciplinary proceeding that also presided over Patterson’s 

disciplinary proceeding, the inability to obtain exonerating evidence and 

 
150 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 99. 
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testimony from federal witnesses, the Respondent being treated differently 

and less favorably than similarly situated individuals of a different race and 

The Florida Bar unequally applying its Rules for the specific purpose of 

intentionally discriminating against him, the referee hearing the testimony 

and seeing evidence in the Patterson disciplinary proceeding that would later 

be admitted into evidence in the Respondent’s disciplinary proceeding, the 

referee having unfavorably pre-judged certain material issues in Patterson’s 

disciplinary proceeding that were pending for the Respondent’s final hearing, 

the referee disregarding the law to deny the Respondent’s motion to 

disqualify, to the Respondent being forced to have his final hearing heard in 

Orlando over the alternative of having his final hearing by zoom.  The 

prosecution of the Respondent was steered to reach this outcome from its 

inception. 

The referee’s report and recommendation must also be dismissed 

because The Florida Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence 

that the Respondent violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.  The 

referee’s finding were not supported by competent, substantial evidence in 

the record, the referee’s conclusion were clearly erroneous, and the 

evidence in the record either did not support the his findings or the record 

evidence clearly contradicts the Referee’s conclusions.  
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While the remedy for fundamental error of denial of access to a fair and 

impartial tribunal is to vacate the referee’s report and recommendation, direct 

the grievance committee of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit to conduct a new 

investigation, and if probable cause is found by said grievance committee, 

appoint a new referee, and for fundamental error of denial of equal protection 

under the law for certain purported violations, the only remedy available is to 

disapprove of the referee’s findings as to said certain purported violations, 

for the Respondent being denied due process and compulsory process to 

defend himself against The Florida Bar’s claims, the only available remedy 

is the outright dismissal of the proceeding.  If this Court concludes that 

fundamental error did not occur and proceeds to analyzing the various 

findings of the referee, this Court should reject the referee’s findings because 

they were not supported by competent, substantial evidence. 

 As to the severity of the sanction, the recommended 90-day 

suspension is too severe under the facts of the case.  The mitigators – the 

absence of a prior disciplinary history, absence of a dishonest or selfish 

motive, timely good faith effort to rectify the consequence of the purported 

misconduct, the Respondent’s full disclosure and cooperation with the 

proceedings, his compliance with the federal court’s sanctions, the emotional 

trauma stemming from a long history of being exposed to racism, the post-
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traumatic stress and conditions of Black Americans who have suffered from 

encounters with racism and, if the Court concludes that a conflict of interest 

existed, the lack of harm to his client and withdrawal of the argument – does 

not support suspension. 

 Lastly, as to The Florida Bar’s costs, The Florida Bar failed to 

authenticate any of the taxable costs, thereby precluding recovery.  Further, 

the costs for the transcripts from the final hearing were not recoverable, as 

Rule 3-7.6 allows for the recovery of the costs of copies of transcripts, not 

original transcripts.  Also, the overtime pay for the court reporter is not 

recoverable. 

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A party seeking to overturn a referee’s findings and recommendations 

of guilt has the burden of showing that the referee’s report is “clearly 

erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support.”152   

A referee’s findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of 

correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without 

 
152 See The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So. 2d 770, 772 (Fla. 1968); accord 
The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So. 2d 1165 (Fla. 1986); see also The Florida 
Bar v. Neu, 597 So. 2d 266, 268 (Fla. 1992). 
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support in the record.153  Absent a showing that the referee’s findings are 

clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, this Court is precluded 

from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the 

referee.154  A party contending that the referee’s findings of fact and 

conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating 

that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the 

record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions.155  This burden cannot 

be met by simply pointing to contradictory evidence when there is also 

competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the referee’s 

findings.156   

Because Bar disciplinary proceedings are quasi-criminal and quasi-

judicial, the referee is not bound by the technical rules of evidence.  

Consequently, a referee has wide latitude to admit or exclude 

evidence.157   Moreover, a referee may consider any relevant evidence, 

including hearsay and the trial transcript or judgment in a civil proceeding.158    

 
153 See The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). 
154 See The Florida Bar v. MacMillan, 600 So. 2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1992). 
155 See The Florida Bar v. Spann, 682 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996). 
156 See The Florida Bar v. Nowacki, 697 So. 2d 828, 832 (Fla. 1997). 
157 See The Florida Bar v. Rotstein, 835 So. 2d 241, 244 (Fla. 2002); see 
also The Florida Bar v. Rendina, 583 So. 2d 314, 315 (Fla. 1991). 
158 See The Florida Bar v. Vining, 707 So. 2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1998); see 
also The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). 
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Accordingly, a referee’s decisions about the admissibility of evidence will not 

be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion.159   

Under the Canakaris opinion, abuse of discretion is defined as judicial 

action which is “arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable, or where no reasonable 

men would take the view adopted by the trial court.”160  If reasonable people 

could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then the 

action is not unreasonable and there should be no finding of an abuse of 

discretion.161     

“The referee is in a unique position to assess the credibility of 

witnesses, and his judgment regarding credibility should not be overturned 

absent clear and convincing evidence that his judgment is incorrect.”162  The 

Florida Supreme Court has defined clear and convincing evidence as 

an intermediate level of proof that entails both a qualitative and quantitative 

standard.  The evidence must be credible; the memories of the witnesses 

must be clear and without confusion; and the sum total of the evidence must 

be of sufficient weight to convince the trier of fact without hesitancy.163  The 

 
159 See Rotstein, 835 So. 2d at 244; see also The Florida Bar v. Tobkin, 944 
So. 2d 219, 224 (Fla. 2006). 
160 See Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). 
161 See Id. 
162 See The Florida Bar v. Thomas, 582 So. 2d 1177, 1178 (Fla. 1991). 
163 See In re Davey, 645 So. 2d 398, 404 (Fla. 1994).   
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trial judge is responsible for finding facts and for resolving any conflicts in the 

evidence.164  The Florida Supreme Court’s review is limited to determining 

whether the factual findings are supported by competent, substantial 

evidence in the record.165 

A. Fundamental error occurred in the proceedings below 
requiring reversal of the Referee’s Recommendations and a 
new trial and/or sanction hearing on remand. 

 
“Fundamental error is defined as the type of error which ‘reaches down 

into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not 

have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.’”166  The 

Florida Supreme Court has gone so far as to explain that fundamental error 

must implicate a constitutional right, such as due process, or the error must 

be so significant that requiring a new trial is essential to maintain public trust 

in our trial system.167  In other words, the error must have been so significant 

that it deprived one party of the right to a fair trial and due process.168 

 
164 See The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So. 2d 289, 290-91 (Fla. 1987). 
165 See The Florida Bar v. Phoenix, 311 So. 3d 825, 832 (Fla. 2021). 
166 See Downs v. Moore, 801 So. 2d 906, 910-11 (Fla. 2001)(citing McDonald 
v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999)(quoting Urbin v. State, 714 So. 2d 
411, 418 n.8 (Fla. 1998)); see also Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 1002 
(Fla. 2001); see also Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996). 
167 See e.g., Murphy v. Int'l Robotic Sys., Inc., 766 So. 2d 1010, 1026 (Fla. 
2000). 
168 See Coba v. Tricam Indus., 164 So. 3d 637, 646 (Fla. 2015); see also 
Pena v. Rodriguez, 273 So. 3d 237, 240 (Fla. 2019)(“Basic due 
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1. The Respondent was effectively denied his due process 
right to a fair and impartial tribunal. 
 

“A fundamental tenet of due process is a fair and impartial tribunal.”169  

The United States Supreme Court expressly stated the following: 

The Due Process Clause entitles a person to an 
impartial and disinterested tribunal in both civil and 
criminal cases. This requirement of neutrality in 
adjudicative proceedings safeguards the two central 
concerns of procedural due process, the prevention 
of unjustified or mistaken deprivations and the 
promotion of participation and dialogue by affected 
individuals in the decisionmaking process. . . . The 
neutrality requirement helps to guarantee that life, 
liberty, or property will not be taken on the basis of 
an erroneous or distorted conception of the facts or 
the law. . . . At the same time, it preserves both the 
appearance and reality of fairness, “generating the 
feeling, so important to a popular government, that 
justice has been done,” . . . by ensuring that no 
person will be deprived of his interests in the absence 
of a proceeding in which he may present his case 
with assurance that the arbiter is not predisposed to 
find against him.170 
 

The importance of a fair tribunal is so etched into the bedrock of the 

American judicial system that few courts have even found a need to address 

 
process requires a party be provided notice and a meaningful opportunity to 
be heard, the denial of which constitutes fundamental error.”). 
169 See Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc., 446 U.S. 238 (1980); see also McKernan v. 
Sci, 849 F.3d 557, 565 (3d Cir. 2016)(“The right to a ‘fair trial in a fair tribunal 
is a basic requirement of due process’ and derives directly from the 
Constitution.”). 
170 See Marshall, 446 U.S. at 242. 
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it.172  “Considering the myriad of procedural safeguards in place to avoid the 

seating of even one biased juror, out of twelve, it is inconceivable that, during 

a bench trial when the judge is the sole factfinder, a trial may proceed when 

that judge is biased.  To do so is to conduct a trial before an unfair tribunal, 

violating the fundamental requirement for an acceptable trial.  Accordingly, it 

has recently been held that the right to an impartial trial extends to a bench 

trial, and that such right cannot be waived by a defendant.”175  The Supreme 

Court of Florida has addressed the presumptions afforded to judges actings 

as both the trier of fact and arbiter of the law: 

The initial presumption that a trial court has 
disregarded inadmissible evidence during a non-jury 
trial is well established in Florida.  In a non-jury trial, 
the factual findings of the judge are entitled to the 
weight of a jury verdict. . . . However, unlike a jury, it 
is generally understood that the trial judge acting as 
both the trier of fact and arbiter of the law “is trained 
by learning and experience to segregate evidence” 
that is inadmissible and improperly prejudicial from 
evidence that is admissible, reliable, and relevant to 
the issue. . . . From that principle, the appellate courts 
of Florida have derived the rebuttable resumption 
that in non-jury cases, trial judges base their 
decisions upon admissible evidence. . . . Accordingly, 
if the trial judge receives evidence as the finder of 
fact and hears inadmissible evidence, such as 
through a suppression hearing, a proffer, a motion in 
limine, or prior to sustaining an objection to the 
evidence, the judge is generally presumed to have 

 
172 McKernan, 849 F.3d at 565. 
175 See Id. 
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disregarded the improper evidence.  Therefore, any 
error in the trial judge’s exposure to this improper 
evidence is deemed harmless. . . . The presumption 
is therefore necessary given the dual nature of a trial 
court judge simultaneously functioning as an arbiter 
of the law and trier of fact, which causes the trial court 
at times to consider evidence that would be 
inadmissible before a jury. . . . However, this 
presumption can be rebutted through a trial court’s 
express and specific finding of admissibility on the 
record or a statement on the record which discloses 
that the trial judge has actually relied upon the 
erroneous evidence to support the verdict or 
result.176 

 
When a party has moved to disqualify a judge or referee, the standard 

for viewing the legal sufficiency of said motion is “whether the facts alleged, 

which must be assumed to be true, would cause the movant to have a well-

founded fear that he or she will not receive a fair trial at the hands of that 

judge.”177  The Supreme Court of Florida has further stated that “the question 

of disqualification focuses on those matters from which a litigant may 

reasonably question a judge’s impartiality rather than a judge’s perception of 

his ability to act fairly and impartially.”178  “In reviewing a motion to disqualify, 

‘the judge shall determine only the legal sufficiency of the motion and shall 

not pass on the truth of the facts alleged.’”179  The judge must review 

 
176 See Petion v. State, 48 So. 3d 726, 730 (Fla. 2010)(citations omitted). 
177 See Mansfield v. State, 911 So. 2d 1160, 1170 (Fla. 2005). 
178 See Reed v. State, 259 So. 3d 718, 721 (Fla. 2018). 
179 See Reed, 259 So. 3d at 721. 
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“whether the facts alleged would place a reasonably prudent person in fear 

of not receiving a fair and impartial trial.”180 

Here, on June 12, 2018, the United States of America directed the 

Clerk’s Office to forward an Order, dated June 12, 2018, to The Florida Bar 

to prompt an investigation of the conduct of the Black attorneys in the Civil 

Rights Case.  The Respondent is one of those Black attorneys.  The United 

States of America opted not to have The Florida Bar investigate the conduct 

of all attorneys, including the non-Black attorneys, in the Civil Rights Case in 

that June 12, 2018, Order.  

The Florida Bar steered the investigation of the Respondent from the 

grievance committee in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, which is where the 

Respondent lives and his law practice is located, to the grievance committee 

in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit where the Respondent neither lives nor 

where his law practice is located.  Judge Kullra was appointed as the referee 

over the Respondent’s case.  Judge Kullra was then appointed as the referee 

to preside over Patterson’s case by the Acting Chief Judge, ensuring that the 

referee would hear both cases. 

 
180 See Reed, 259 So. 3d at 721 (quoting MacKenzie v. Super Kids Bargain 
Store, Inc., 565 So. 2d 1332, 1335 (Fla. 1990)). 
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Prior to the final hearing involving the Respondent in this proceeding – 

that is, on September 14, 2020, through September 15, 2020, the referee 

heard testimony from Walker, Flood, Bonner and Judge Mendoza, and 

reviewed the vast majority of The Florida Bar’s exhibits admitted in 

Patterson’s disciplinary proceeding, and reached concern conclusions about 

the Respondent’s conduct in said disciplinary proceeding:   

“I have concluded that the Amended Motion clearly 
did not qualify under the statute.  The evidence 
respondent claims was ‘new evidence’ was 
cumulative or impeaching.  It was immaterial, and it 
would not have resulted in a different outcome.  Four 
of the five necessary elements were not satisfied, 
and for this reason, the Amended Motion was not a 
meritorious claim, in violation of Rule 4-3.1” 

 
. . . 

 
“Further, the district court found plaintiff’s counsel 
had not attended the meeting with all the requirement 
documents, as outlined in the CMSO, and ordered 
sanctions against them. 

*** 
The second emergency motion failed to comply with 
United States District Court Middle District of Florida, 
Local Rule 3.01(g).  Respondent and his co-counsel 
failed to properly and timely confer with all defense 
counsel regarding their position.” 

 
. . . 

“In 2012, respondent and his co-counsel were 
ordered to pay sanctions after their failure to comply 
with the court order concerning the joint pretrial 
statement. 
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*** 
It was co-counsel, Mr. Locke, who filed the subject 
motion asserting the sanction should be imposed on 
his client instead of himself, resulting in the conflict of 
interest.”181 

 
The Respondent timely moved to disqualify the referee because the 

referee had unfavorably pre-judged certain material issues in Patterson’s 

disciplinary hearing that were pending for the Respondent’s final hearing.  

The Respondent legitimately feared that he would not receive a fair final 

hearing before the referee and that the referee was impermissibly prejudiced 

and/or biased against the Respondent.  The law expressly provides that pre-

judging certain material issues and facts like what occurred in this 

proceeding warrants disqualification.182 

The Respondent was then compelled to have his matter heard in 

Orange County for no other reason that the referee had granted The Florida 

Bar’s motion for one witness to appear via live video-conference, The Florida 

Bar had filed a second motion for a second witness to appear via live video-

conference, which was likely to be granted, and the Respondent believed, 

for good reason, that the referee would permit any and all of The Florida 

Bar’s witnesses to appear by live video conference if sought by The Florida 

 
181 See Amended Record of Index, Tab. 88. 
182 See Williams v. Balch, 897 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). 
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Bar.  In fact, the referee stated that he “was not real thrilled” about having 

the final hearing in Orlando and that he would have “done that hearing on 

Zoom,” an internet conferencing platform used for audio and/or video 

conferencing, even though it would have been extremely difficult for the 

Respondent to present exhibits to witnesses during cross examination. 

The aggregate of (i) the redirected investigation ultimately done by the 

Grievance Committee of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, (ii) the 

Supreme Court of Florida steering the Respondent’s case to be heard by the 

same referee that would also hear Patterson’s disciplinary case, (iii) the 

referee hearing the testimony of all witnesses that were to testify in the 

Respondent’s final hearing more than sixty days before the Responding’s 

final hearing, (iv) the referee seeing the vast majority of The Florida Bar’s 

exhibits that would be introduced in the Respondent’s final hearing more than 

sixty days prior to the Responding’s final hearing, (v) the referee unfavorably 

prejudging certain material issues of law and fact, (vi) the referee denying 

the Respondent’s motion to disqualify rather than assess whether the facts 

alleged, which must be assumed to be true, would have caused the 

Respondent to have a well-founded fear that he would not receive a fair trial 

at the hands of said referee, and then (vii) the Respondent being faced with 

either transferring his final hearing to Orlando or having said final hearing 
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done by video-conference amounted to a denial of a fair and impartial 

tribunal.  The outcome – adverse findings against the Respondent on all 

violations, including those without any evidence and testimony to support 

them – appeared all but certain in the Respondent’s disciplinary proceeding 

from the beginning.   

 Due process envisions a law that hears before it condemns, proceeds 

upon inquiry, and renders judgment only after proper consideration of issues 

advanced by adversarial parties.185  The Respondent was denied that.  Since 

the Respondent was denied access to a fair and impartial tribunal, the report 

and recommendation of the referee should be vacated, and the matter 

should be remanded and reassigned to Grievance Committee of the 

Seventeenth Judicial Circuit and, if probable cause is found by said 

Grievance Committee of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, reassigned to a 

newly appointed referee. 

2. Attorney Locke was denied his due process right to 
defend himself against The Florida Bar’s pending claims. 
 

“The right to sue and defend in the courts is the alternative of force.  In 

an organized society it is the right conservative of all other rights, and lies at 

the foundation of orderly government.  It is one of the highest and most 

 
185 See State ex rel. Munch v. Davis, 196 So. 491, 494 (1940). 
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essential privileges of citizenship, and must be allowed by each State to the 

citizens of all other States to the precise extent that it is allowed to its own 

citizens.  Equality of treatment in this respect is not left to depend upon 

comity between the States, but is granted and protected by the Federal 

Constitution.”189  In that regard, the Respondent is entitled to due process in 

disciplinary proceedings, and that means notice, an opportunity to be heard 

and an opportunity to defend himself.190  As noted by the United States 

Supreme Court, “[t]he right of an accused . . . to due process is, in essence, 

the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State’s accusations.  The 

rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to call witnesses in one’s 

own behalf have long been recognized as essential to due process.”191  

“The Due Process Clause ‘guarantees that [an accused] will be treated with 

‘that fundamental fairness essential to the very concept of justice.’”192  “Due 

process includes the right to present witnesses to establish a defense.”193   

 
189 See Chambers v. Baltimore & O. R. Co., 207 U.S. 142, 148 (1907). 
190 See The Florida Bar v. Tipler, 8 So. 3d 1109, 1118 (Fla. 2009); see also 
The Florida Bar v. Committee, 916 So. 2d 741, 745 (Fla. 2005); see also 
Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 471 U.S. 626 (1985). 
191 See Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294 (1972). 
192 See United States v. Piper, 912 F.3d 847, 854 (5th Cir. 2019)(citing United 
States v. Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. 858, 872 (1982). 
193 See Piper, 912 F.3d at 854 (citing Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19 
(1967). 
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Critically, the Sixth Amendment guarantees an accused “compulsory 

process for obtaining witnesses in his favor.”194  The Compulsory Process 

Clause of the Sixth Amendment ensures that an accused has ‘the right to 

the government’s assistance in compelling the attendance of favorable 

witnesses at trial and the right to put before a jury evidence that might 

influence the determination of guilt.’”195  “To demonstrate a constitutional 

violation under either due process or compulsory process based on the 

deprivation of witness testimony, [the accused] ‘must make some plausible 

showing of how the[] testimony would have been both material and favorable 

to his defense.’”196   

  Here, while the Respondent was provided with notice and an 

opportunity to be heard, the Respondent was not afforded an opportunity to 

 
194 See United States v. Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. 858, 868 (1982); see 
also U.S. Const., Amdt. 6; see also Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 16 
(1967)(Defendant’s Sixth Amendment right was violated when he was 
deprived of “testimony [that] would have been relevant and material, and . . 
. vital to the defense.”); see also United States v. Williams, 509 Fed. Appx. 
899, 902 (11th Cir. 2013)(“[T]he accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have 
compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor.”); see also Kjellsen 
v. Mills, 517 F.3d 1232, 1238-39 (11th Cir. 2008); see also United States v. 
Dumonde, 190 Fed. Appx. 788, 790-91 (11th Cir. 2006); see also United 
States v. Persico, 645 F.3d 85, 113 (2d Cir. 2011); see also United States v. 
Ritchie, 734 Fed. Appx. 876, 878-79 (4th Cir. 2018). 
195 See Piper, 912 F.3d at 854 (quoting Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 408 
(1988); see also Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 56 (1987). 
196 See United States v. Villanueva, 408 F.3d 193, 200 (5th Cir. 2005)(quoting 
Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. at 867). 
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defend himself against the charges levied by The Florida Bar.  Specifically, 

the Respondent was denied due process and compulsory process for 

procuring witnesses that would have favored him.  The Respondent sought 

to depose and compel for the Final Hearing both Judge Honeywell and Clerk 

Warren.  Judge Honeywell and Clerk Warren were properly served with their 

respective subpoenas for deposition duces tecum.  Judge Honeywell did not 

appear for her deposition, nor did she produce the documents requested in 

the subpoena for deposition duces tecum issued by the Referee.  Instead, 

Judge Honeywell responded to receiving the subpoena for deposition duces 

tecum on March 12, 2020, stating that “your request for testimony from me 

is denied.”197  Similarly, Clerk Warren responded to being served with the 

subpoena for deposition duces tecum issued on November 9, 2020, stating 

that the Chief Judge had determined “not to authorized my testimony or the 

disclosure of the federal judicial records sought in the subpoena.”198 

The Respondent’s defense of the claims levied against him, 

specifically, the purported violations of Rules 3-4.3, 4-1.7, 4-3.1, 4-3.2, 4-

3.4(c), 4-3.5(c), 4-8.2(a) and 4-8.4(d), required truthful testimony from Judge 

 
197 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 37. 
198 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 36. 
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Honeywell and Clerk Warren.199  The favorable, relevant and material 

testimony from Judge Honeywell would have been (i) interpreting her own 

statements made in the October 17, 2012, hearing concerning the conduct 

of the attorneys (Rules 3-4.3 and 4-3.2(c)), (ii) confirming that she 

sanctioned Bussey-Morice (as further evidenced by the Clerk’s minutes and 

hearing transcript)(Rule 4-1.7), and (iii) addressing whether she contended 

that Bussey-Morice’s first motion to extend the deadline for filing the Joint 

Pretrial Stipulation, which was filed by the Respondent and granted by Judge 

Honeywell, caused the litigation to be delayed (in light of the fact that the 

second motion to extend the deadline for filing the Joint Pretrial Stipulation 

was an agreed motion)(Rule 4-3.2).  Similarly, favorable, relevant and 

material testimony expected from Clerk Warren would have been about (i) 

why she characterized the ALAN & LOCKEPLLC April 4, 2018, 

correspondence as a motion to disqualify filed by Bussey-Morice (Rule 4-

8.2(a)), (ii) whether she received directions from Judge Mendoza or then-

Chief Judge Anny Conway or another federal judge concerning how to 

handle the ALAN & LOCKEPLLC April 4, 2018, correspondence 

 
199 The Respondent contends that there absolutely is no record evidence to 
support a violation of Rule 4-1.7, 4-3.2, 4-3.4(c), 4-3.5(c) and 4-8.2(a).  The 
Respondent further contends that the referee’s findings and conclusions as 
to guilt are clearly erroneous as to Rule 3-4.3, 4-1.7, 4-3.1, 4-3.2, 4-3.4(c), 
4.3.5(c), 4-8.2(a) and 4-8.4(d). 
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(Rule 4-8.2(a)), (iii) whether she acted on her own in characterizing the 

ALAN & LOCKEPLLC April 4, 2018, correspondence as a motion to 

disqualify filed by Bussey-Morice (Rule 4-8.2(a)), (iv) why she filed the 

ALAN & LOCKEPLLC April 4, 2018, correspondence in the court file 

of the Civil Rights Case but did not file the ALAN & LOCKEPLLC 

January 28, 2018, FOIA request in said court file (Rule 4-8.2(a)) and (v) 

background concerning the irregular reassignment of the Civil Rights Case 

from Judge Honeywell to Judge Mendoza.  The Referee did not have 

authority to compel Judge Honeywell and Clerk Warren to appear for 

deposition and/or the final hearing.  Further, the Respondent did not have 

any other mechanisms available to him to compel District Judge Honeywell’s 

and Clerk Warren’s attendance for deposition and/or at the final hearing.  

This goes against everything the state and federal courts emphasize 

pertaining to promoting public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of 

the judiciary. 

The Respondent has demonstrated that the testimony of Judge 

Honeywell and Clerk Warren would have been both material and favorable 

to the defense of the claims lodged against him by The Florida Bar.  Supra.  

The Respondent could not defend himself against the prosecution by The 

Florida Bar because the Respondent could not obtain the exonerating 
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discovery he sought from the United States of America, as Judge Mendoza 

refused to produce documents responsive to the subpoena duces tecum 

properly served on him, Judge Honeywell refused to produce documents 

responsive to the subpoena duces tecum properly served on her, Judge 

Honeywell refused to appear for deposition and final hearing to testify, Clerk 

Warren refused to produce documents responsive to the subpoena duces 

tecum directed to her, and Clerk Warren refused to appear for deposition 

and final hearing to testify at the direction of the Chief Judge.  Further, while 

the Respondent recognizes that he was not a criminal defendant in the final 

hearing, the Compulsory Process Clause of the Sixth Amendment should be 

applicable in this proceeding involving the Respondent, as both the United 

States Supreme Court and the Supreme Court of Florida have recognized 

disciplinary proceedings, including bar disciplinary proceedings involving 

attorneys, as quasi-criminal in nature.200  The Compulsory Process Clause 

assures that an accused like the Respondent has the right to the 

government’s assistance is compelling the attendance of favorable 

 
200 See In re Ruffalo, 380 U.S. 544 (1968), modified on other ground, 392 
U.S. 919 (1968); see also Middlesex County Ethics Comm. V. Garden State 
Bar Ass’n, 457 U.S. 423, 438 (1982)(concurring opinion); see also The 
Florida Bar v. Vernell, 721 So. 2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1998); see also The Florida 
Bar v. Sibley, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 64485, at *3 (N.D. Fla. September 11, 
2006);  
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witnesses.  The Respondent was denied that right because the referee did 

not have the power to compel any of the agents of the United States of 

America.   

Since the Respondent was denied due process and compulsory 

process in his disciplinary proceeding, the Supreme Court of Florida should 

dismiss the Report of Referee on Findings of Fact and Guilt. 

3. The Respondent was denied his Constitutional right to  
equal protection under the law in the proceedings below  
requiring reversal and a new trial. 

To claim selective enforcement in violation of the equal protection 

clause, the Respondent must show that: (1) he was treated differently and 

less favorably than similarly situated individuals, and (2) The Florida Bar 

unequally applied its Rules for the specific purpose of intentionally 

discriminating against him.201  Therefore, to establish an equal protection 

violation, the Respondent must show that a similarly situated individual was 

treated better.202  The Supreme Court of Florida has stated that “[t]he 

constitutional right of equal protection of the laws means that everyone is 

entitled to stand before the law on equal terms with, to enjoy the same rights 

 
201 See Campbell v. Rainbow City, Ala., 434 F.3d 1306, 1314 (11th Cir. 2006); 
see also GJR Invs., Inc. v. County of Escambia, Fla., 132 F.3d 1359, 1367 
(11th Cir. 1998). 
202 See Griffin Indus., Inc. v. Irvin, 496 F.3d 1189 (11th Cir. 2007). 
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as belong to, and to bear the same burden as are imposed upon others in a 

like situation.”203  

The evidence and testimony before the referee illustrated that the 

grievance committee from the Ninth Judicial Circuit investigated Floor and 

Walker in response to the complaint filed by Patterson.204  The Ninth Judicial 

Circuit, which includes Orange County, Florida, is where Flood’s and 

Walker’s law practices was located and where they resided.  Probable cause 

was not found as to Flood and Walker in the face of clear and obvious 

violations of Rules 3-4.3 (Misconduct and Minor Misconduct), 4-3.4(d) 

(Fairness to opposing party and counsel), and 4-8.4 (Misconduct) because 

Flood and Walker failed to respond to written discovery and something more 

sinister, namely, Walker’s misconduct of changing an officer’s interrogatory 

answers after the officer signed the jurat page and said jurat page had been 

notarized.205  The changing of answers after the jurat page had been signed 

and notarized violates Florida Statute § 117.107(7) and is inconsistent with 

Rule 33 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.206  Flood conveyed to 

 
203 See Estate of McCall v. United States, 134 So. 3d 894, 900-901 (Fla. 
2014). 
204 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 11, 14-15. 
205 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 9. 
206 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 12-13. 
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Patterson that he would attempt to retrieve an updated jurat page,207 thereby 

acknowledging the misconduct reported to The Florida Bar.208  In fact, Flood 

acknowledged the misconduct to The Florida Bar, characterizing it as a 

mistake.  Interestingly, Walker told Judge Scriven something different than 

what was told to The Florida Bar.  Specifically, Walker told the federal court 

in the Civil Rights Case that “Officer Leverich verified the truth, accuracy and 

completeness of his finalized answers before those answers were provided 

to the Plaintiff” and “the seven Defendants have each timely responded to a 

full round of written discovery . . . .”209  Those statements were false.  The 

Florida Bar knew about Walker changing the answers of Officer Leverich’s 

interrogatory responses after received the signed, notarized jurat page from 

Officer Leverich, and had The Florida Bar investigated it, would have learned 

of Walker’s misrepresentations made to the federal court.  Instead, The 

Florida Bar did not prosecute either Flood or Walker.   

In this case against the Respondent, The Florida Bar has gone to the 

extent of accusing the Respondent of violations where there was no 

evidence to support them, manipulated the investigation by redirecting it from 

the grievance committee in Broward County to the grievance committee in 

 
207 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 10, 14. 
208 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibits 10-11, 14. 
209 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 20. 
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Hillsborough County, ensured that the Respondent and Patterson were tried 

before the same referee and made sure that Patterson’s final hearing was 

heard first.  The Respondent was treated differently than Flood and Walker, 

who clearly violated Rules 3-4.3 (Misconduct and Minor Misconduct), 4-

3.4(d) (Fairness to opposing party and counsel), and 4-8.4 (Misconduct), 

three of the violations that The Florida Bar accused the Respondent of 

purportedly violating, and yet The Florida Bar unequally applied its Rules for 

the specific purpose of intentionally discriminating against the Respondent.  

Flood and Walker were given preferential treatment by not being prosecuted.  

The Respondent, on the other hand, has been besmirched and maltreated 

by The Florida Bar.   

Since the Respondent was denied equal protection, the Supreme 

Court of Florida should dismiss the findings of the referee as to Rules 3-4.3 

(Misconduct and Minor Misconduct), 4-3.4(d) (Fairness to opposing party 

and counsel), and 4-8.4 (Misconduct) as to the Respondent. 

The evidence and testimony before the referee also captured conduct 

committed by one of the Caucasian attorneys that was not prosecuted by 

The Florida Bar, but was prosecuted against the Respondent.  Specifically, 

during the Civil Rights Litigation, on February 2, 2015, and against on 

January 19, 2018, Walker filed motions for extension of time, which were 
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granted.210  The Florida Bar did not prosecute Walker for violating Rule 4-3.2 

(Expediting Litigation).  The Florida Bar did prosecute the Respondent for 

purportedly violating Rule 4-3.2 by filing Plaintiff’s Emergency Motion for 

Extension of Time to File Joint Pretrial Statement, Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 

45, stemming from the scheduling conference fiasco involving lead trial 

counsel.  The motion for extension of time filed by the Respondent was 

granted by Judge Honeywell after the Respondent supplemented its filing 

with the notice of compliance with Local Rule 3.01(g).  

 The referee inaccurately concluded that the Respondent failed to 

comply with Local Rule 3.01(g) because the motion was filed before 

conferring with opposing counsel.  While failing to comply with Local Rule 

3.01(g) would not constitute a failure to expedite the litigation, that conclusion 

reached by the referee was nevertheless clearly erroneous based on the 

plain language of Local Rule 3.01(g) and the case law.  Specifically, Local 

Rule 3.01(g) recognizes that there might be instances where a motion is filed 

before the movant confers with the opposing attorneys.  In those instances, 

Local Rule 3.01(g) expressly provides that the movant “retains the duty to 

contact opposing counsel expeditiously after filing and to supplement the 

motion promptly with a statement certifying whether or to what extent the 

 
210 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 1. 
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parties have resolved the issue(s) presented in the motion.”  The 

Respondent did that, prompting filing Plaintiff’s Notice of Local Rule 3.01(g) 

Conference Regarding Plaintiff’s Emergency Motion for Extension of Time to 

File Joint Pretrial Stipulation after conferring with opposing counsel.211  The 

case law supports the Respondent’s interpretation of Local Rule 3.01(g).212 

 The Respondent was treated differently than Walker, who engaged in 

the same conduct of filing a motion for extension of time in the Civil Rights 

Case, but was not prosecuted by The Florida Bar for purportedly violating 

Rule 4-3.2.  The Respondent was prosecuted for purportedly violating Rule 

4-3.2 for filing the motion for extension of time.  The Florida Bar unequally 

applied its Rules for the specific purpose of intentionally discriminating 

against the Respondent.  Again, Walker was given preferential treatment by 

not being prosecuted.  Since the Respondent was denied equal protection, 

the Supreme Court of Florida should dismiss the findings of the referee as to 

Rules 4-3.2. 

  

 
211 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 46. 
212 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 27 (Passiatore v. Fla. Neurological Ctr., 
LLC, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 134219 (M.D. Fla. November 18, 2011; Steward 
v. Int’l Longshoreman’s Ass’n, 2007 WL 4462722 (M.D. Fla. December 14, 
2007). 
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B. Rule 3-4.3 (Misconduct and minor misconduct) 

The record is void of any evidence or testimony to support the referee’s 

conclusion that a violation of 3-4.3 occurred as to the Respondent.  To the 

extent this Court concludes that there was sufficient record evidence for the 

referee to have considered, the Respondent contends that said evidence in 

the record did not support the Referee’s findings, that the record evidence 

clearly contradicts the Referee’s conclusions, or that the record evidence 

was not competent and/or substantial. 

Rule 3-4.3 expressly provides that “[t]he commission by a lawyer of 

any act that is either unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice may 

constitute a cause for discipline whether the act is committed in the course 

of the lawyer's relations as an attorney or otherwise . . . .”  The report and 

recommendation fails to identify any conduct of the Respondent that  was 

“unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice.”  In fact, the referee failed to 

identify which conduct he relied on to conclude that a Rule 3-4.3 violation 

had occurred.  In its brief, The Florida Bar pointed to the Respondent’s use 

of the phrase “Brutality Officers” to support a purported violation of Rule 3-

4.3.  The referee did not identify the Respondent’s use of the “Brutality 

Officers” phrase as a basis for concluding that a Rule 3-4.3 violation 

occurred, but if this is what he relied to reach that conclusion, said conclusion 
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is erroneous, as there is nothing about using that phrase that is either 

unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice.  The referee made it known that 

he disliked the Respondent describing police officers accused of employing 

excessive force in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, resulting in the death of an 

unarmed Black man, as “Brutality Officers,” even though the state and 

federal law provides for attorneys to make allegations provided there was 

supporting evidence.  The referee’s dislike of the phrase does not make the 

Respondent’s use of said phrase a violation of Rule 3-4.3. 

The Florida Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that 

the Respondent violated Rule 3-4.3.  The factual findings of the Referee on 

the purported violation of Rule 3-4.3 are not supported by competent, 

substantial evidence in the record.  In fact, the record is void of any evidence 

or testimony to support the referee’s conclusion that a violation of Rule 3-4.3 

occurred.  The referee’s conclusion was clearly erroneous, as the evidence 

in the record did not support the Referee’s findings and/or the record 

evidence clearly contradicts the Referee’s conclusions.  Accordingly, this 

Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove by clear and 

convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 3-4.3. 
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C. Rule 4-1.7 (Conflict of Interest; Current Clients) 

The record is void of any evidence or testimony to support the referee’s 

conclusion that a conflict of interest existed between the Respondent and 

Bussey-Morice in violation of Rule 4-1.7.  To the extent this Court concludes 

that there was sufficient record evidence for the referee to have considered, 

the Respondent contends that said evidence in the record did not support 

the Referee’s findings, that the record evidence clearly contradicts the 

Referee’s conclusions, or that the record evidence was not competent and/or 

substantial. 

The referee erroneously concluded that the Respondent argued in 

Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration against his client’s interest in favor of 

his own concerning the sanction of attorney’s fees and costs.  The referee 

further concluded that it was “clear” from the October 17, 2012, telephonic 

hearing before Judge Honeywell that Bussey-Morice’s counsel’s conduct 

was what warranted being sanction.  The problem with the referee’s 

conclusion is that it contradicts how Judge Honeywell ruled and what the 

record reflects, and completely dismisses that the purported potential harm 

to the client had been extinguished vis-à-vis the Respondent paying the 

monetary sanction before filing Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration. 
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Despite how unreasonable the referee might have thought it was, 

Judge Honeywell did in fact sanction Bussey-Morice.213  There is no record 

evidence that contradicts Judge Honeywell’s ruling.  Further, the 

Respondent never agreed with or argued in favor of Bussey-Morice being 

sanctioned, and in fact, because the emergency motion to extend the 

deadline had been granted by the Court, the Respondent contended that 

sanctions were not warranted for either the client or counsel.  The 

Respondent was crystal clear at the final hearing that he did not believe that 

Bussey-Morice should have been sanctioned.   

Within a few days of Judge Honeywell sanctioning Bussey-Morice, at 

the mediation, the Respondent explained to the client that she had been 

wrongfully sanctioned by Judge Honeywell to pay the defendants’ attorney’s 

fees and costs associated with the preparation of the Joint Final Pretrial 

Statement, that she should not have been sanctioned, and that while legally 

a personal representative could not be compelled by a court in Florida to pay 

another party’s attorney’s fees and costs, or even a monetary sanction based 

on Florida case law (see Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 52), the worst-case 

scenario would be that her attorneys – the Respondent and/or Patterson – 

would pay the attorney’s fees and costs.  The Respondent had that 

 
213 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibits 47, 49 and 50. 
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discussion with Bussey-Morice after learning that Patterson had not 

discussed it with her. 

That Florida case law, which governs estates and the powers of a 

personal representative, follows the “American Rule” that the obligation to 

pay attorney’s fees must be based on contractual or statutory rights.214  The 

case law interpreting Florida Statutes § 768.26 provides for litigation 

expenses – attorney’s fees and costs – for the personal representative’s 

attorneys.  The case law rejects the idea of the opposing party’s attorney’s 

fees and costs being paid from the Estate by a personal representative, even 

if the opposing party is otherwise entitled to attorney’s fees and costs.215  A 

personal representative is a statutorily-created party.216   In wrongful death 

cases, Florida law considers a personal representative as a conduit for 

settlement proceeds or monetary judgments, and is “duty-bound to apportion 

the proceeds equitably among the estate and the survivors.”217  In the Civil 

Rights Case, the Estate had no assets.  However, the case law provides that, 

 
214 See Am. First Mut. Ins. Co. v. Alvis, 72 So. 2d 314, 317 (Fla. 2d DCA 
2011). 
215 See Johnson v. Schneegold, 419 So. 2d 684, 685 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); see 
also Thompson v. Hodson, 825 So. 2d 941, 951 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002)(“[T]he 
personal representative has no authority to satisfy the judgment for fees and 
costs from the money he holds for the survivors.”). 
216 See Dudley v. McCormick, 799 So. 2d 436, 441 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). 
217 See Thompson, 825 So. 2d at 951. 
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even in cases where an Estate had assets, the courts could compel a 

personal representative to use those proceeds, which are intended for the 

beneficiaries, to pay a claim for attorney’s fees and costs of the opposing 

parties.218  In other words, a monetary sanction against an Estate is not 

enforceable because the personal representative is duty-bound to distribute 

assets of said Estate, assuming it has assets, equitably amongst the 

beneficiaries.  The personal representative cannot compel the beneficiaries 

of an Estate to contribute monies to said Estate to pay the opposing parties’ 

attorney’s fees and costs.  And since a personal representative is a 

statutorily-created party that is appointed by the probate court and serves as 

a conduit for collecting money for the beneficiaries in wrongful death cases, 

the person appointed as the personal representative cannot be compelled 

by a trial court to pay attorney’s and costs of the opposing party in her 

individual capacity because said court does not have personal jurisdiction 

over that person in their individual capacity.219  

On January 12, 2018, well after Final Judgment had been entered, 

Judge Mendoza changed the law of the case to sanction the attorneys, and 

specifically the Respondent because Patterson filed for bankruptcy, 

 
218 See Thompson, 825 So. 2d at 951-54. 
219 See Sloss Indus. Corp. v. Eurisol, 488 F.3d 922, 924 (11th Cir. 2007); see 
also Burke v. Smith, 252 F.3d 1260, 1263 (11th Cir. 2001). 
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completely disregarding how Judge Honeywell ruled back in 2012.  Prior to 

pointing out the law of the case doctrine and how Judge Mendoza had 

violated said doctrine in Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration, and to 

preclude any possible exposure for Bussey-Morice, on February 9, 2018, the 

Respondent paid the monetary sanction as directed by Judge Mendoza to 

comply with the court directive.220 

Lastly, while on Friday, February 9, 2018, at 9:48PM, the Respondent 

did file Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration, and Section II of said motion, 

titled “The Law of the Case Doctrine Precludes Changing Prior Rulings After 

Final Judgment,” did argue that the Court was legally bound by Judge 

Honeywell’s October 17, 2012221, on Tuesday, February 13, 2018, the 

Respondent filed Plaintiff’s Notice of Withdrawal of Portion of Plaintiff’s 

 
220 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 102. 
221 The law of the case doctrine in the Eleventh Circuit provides that “an issue 
decided at one stage of a case is binding at later stages of the same case, 
including where a party had the opportunity to appeal a district court’s ruling 
on appeal on an issue but did not do so. . . . Once such a decision becomes 
final, the law-of-the-case doctrine is operative.” See United States v. Rozier, 
685 Fed. Appx 847, 850-51 (11th Cir. 2017); see also United States v. 
Hubbard, 384 Fed. Appx. 931, 932 (11th Cir. 2010)(“A legal decision made 
at one stage of the litigation, unchallenged in a subsequent appeal when the 
opportunity existed, becomes the law of the case for future stages of the 
same litigation, and the parties are deemed to have waived the right to 
challenge that decision at a later time.”) 
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Motion for Reconsideration, retracting Section II of the motion.222  Plaintiff’s 

notice was the equivalent of amending the motion without Section II.   

The Respondent also sent a correspondence to Bussey-Morice, dated 

October 23, 2012, to memorialize the conversation that the Respondent had 

with Bussey-Morice at the mediation, including her consent to proceed with 

any arguments available, provided she did not have to pay the sanction.223  

The referee concluded that the client did not consent to the Respondent 

advancing an argument against her interest, but as pointed out above, the 

Respondent never made an argument adverse to the client’s interest.  

Further, the referee has misinterpreted the plain language of what is required 

within the consent confirmed in writing.  Specifically, the referee concluded 

that the written consent had to include an explanation of risks and 

advantages, if any, of representation burdened with a conflict of interest, 

reasonably available alternatives and to afford the client a reasonable 

opportunity to consider the risks and alternatives.  The rule does not require 

that at all in the written consent.   

Instead, the plain language of the rule expressly provides that “[t]he 

requirement of a writing does not supplant the need in most cases for 

 
222 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 84. 
223 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 51. 
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the lawyer to talk with the client, to explain the risks and advantages, if 

any, of the representation burdened with a conflict of interest, as well as 

reasonably available alternatives, and to afford the client a reasonable 

opportunity to consider the risks and alternatives and to raise questions and 

concerns.”224   

The Respondent contends that at no point did a conflict exist, 

eliminating the need for written consent, but sent the correspondence to 

memorialize the conversation that had occurred a few days prior.  The 

referee further concluded that the client should have been provided with 

reasonably available alternatives in the written consent.  The rule does not 

require that.  Further, the entire conversation verbatim between the 

Respondent and Bussey-Morice is not in the October 23, 2012, 

correspondence.  However, the Respondent did discuss with Bussey-Morice 

and included in the correspondence that legally the court could not be 

compel her to pay a monetary sanction, and that worst case scenario, her 

attorneys would pay said sanction. 

No conflict of interested ever existed or was created because no 

argument advanced by the Respondent was ever adverse to Bussey-Morice.  

 
224 See Rule 4-1.7, Consent confirmed in writing or stated on the record at a 
hearing (emphasis added). 
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The Respondent’s law practice included having handled some probate 

cases, and the Respondent knew the limitations and restrictions imposed on 

personal representatives of estates in Florida.  Prior to filing Plaintiff’s Motion 

for Reconsideration, the Respondent also knew that the law of the case 

doctrine precluded Judge Mendoza from altering Judge Honeywell’s ruling 

and that Bussey-Morice could not be legally compelled by any court to pay 

a monetary sanction.  Further, prior to filing Plaintiff’s Motion for 

Reconsideration, the Respondent paid the monetary sanction to comply with 

the court directive, thereby eliminating the thought of Bussey-Morice ever 

paying said monetary sanction and the Respondent from being accused of 

failing to comply with a court directive.  Additionally, within two business days 

of filing Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration, the Respondent withdrew the 

legal argument that the referee misconstrued as an argument adverse to the 

client.  The Respondent had client consent to advance any argument 

provided she was not compelled to pay the monetary sanction, evidenced by 

the Respondent’s October 23, 2012, letter.  Lastly, the referee even admitted 

in the sanction hearing that while he understood The Florida Bar’s argument, 

Bussey-Morice was not impacted and characterized it as de minimis, as the 

Respondent withdrew the argument within days and paid the monetary 



 67 

sanction before making the argument.225  The Florida Bar’s claim that the 

Respondent violated Rule 4-1.7 is not based on evidence.  Instead, it is a 

sham that empowers The Florida Bar to seek a lengthy suspension if the 

right grievance committee conducts the investigation and finds probable 

cause, and the matter is heard before the right referee.  

The factual findings of the Referee on the purported violation of Rule 

4-1.7 are not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record.  

Accordingly, this Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove by 

clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-1.7. 

D. Rule 4-3.1 (Meritorious Claims and Contentions) 

The record in this proceeding does contain a court order entered by 

Judge Mendoza denying the Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment, which 

was filed by the Respondent.226  In that Order, Judge Mendoza concluded 

that it was frivolous.  However, that Order is not reliable because it was 

entered by Judge Mendoza, who was not a credible witness in this 

proceeding. 

At the final hearing, the Respondent pointed out some of the objective 

evidence showing Judge Mendoza’s obvious bias against the Respondent 

 
225 See Sanction Hearing Transcript, pg. 5. 
226 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 75. 
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and his client.  The Respondent was denied due process on multiple 

occasions by Judge Mendoza when he granted motions filed by the defense 

attorneys without affording Bussey-Morice an opportunity to respond.  The 

Respondent and his client were denied due process because Judge 

Mendoza granted the defense attorneys’ motion based on an argument not 

raised by the movant, but instead the him, without giving Bussey-Morice 

notice and an opportunity to respond.  Judge Mendoza abandoned the law 

of the case to achieve the sanction the Respondent.  Judge Mendoza even 

disregarded Rule 7(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Rule 

3.01(f), which precludes letters from serving as motions, to conclude that a 

letter to the Clerk’s Office from a law firm not connected to the Civil Rights 

Case (Alan & LockePLLC), which was then filed by the Clerk’s 

Office as a motion to disqualify Judge Mendoza filed by Bussey-Morice, was 

in fact a motion to disqualify.  Judge Mendoza’s deposition testimony of this 

proceeding (Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22) and testimony at the final hearing 

further mirrored the Respondent’s testimony concerning bias.  In fact, Judge 

Mendoza’s deposition testimony exposed his communication with Clerk 

Warren concerning the FOIA request and request for access to judicial 

records, knowing that the Respondent sought information concerning the 

case reassignment. 



 69 

The only evidence available concerning Rue 4-3.1 was the Order 

entered by Judge Mendoza.  That Order is not competent, substantial 

evidence because it was entered by Judge Mendoza, who lacked credibility 

in this proceeding because of his bias against the Respondent and his client.  

Accordingly, this Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove by 

clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-3.1. 

E. Rule 4-3.2 (Expediting Litigation) 

The record is void of any evidence or testimony to support the referee’s 

conclusion that a violation of 4-3.2 occurred.  To the extent this Court 

concludes that there was sufficient record evidence for the referee to 

consider, the Respondent contends that said evidence in the record did not 

support the Referee’s findings, that the record evidence clearly contradicts 

the Referee’s conclusions, or that the record evidence was not competent 

and/or substantial. 

Rule 4-3.2 expressly provides that a lawyer shall make reasonable 

efforts to expedite litigation consistent with the interests of the client.  The 

Florida Bar failed to proffer either testimony or introduce evidence that 

proves by clear and convincing evidence, or even suggests or otherwise 

implies that the Respondent did not make reasonable efforts to expedite 

litigation consistent with the interests of the client.  Should this Court 
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conclude that the scheduling conference fiasco is what the referee 

considered to conclude a Rule 4-3.2 violation, the Respondent contends that 

the evidence in the record does not support the Referee’s findings and that 

the record evidence clearly contradicts the Referee’s conclusion. 

Pursuant to the Case Management and Scheduling Order, lead trial 

counsel shouldered the responsibilities concerning preparation of the Joint 

Final Pretrial Statement.227  At no point was the Respondent ever lead trial 

counsel.  There was no record evidence or testimony refuting the 

Respondent’s testimony that the Respondent was not lead trial counsel for 

Bussey-Morice.  In fact, even the adverse attorneys, who have had an axe 

to grind against the Respondent, agreed that only lead trial counsel was 

required to attend the joint scheduling conference and were responsible for 

the Joint Filing Pretrial Statement.228  The relevant portions of the Case 

Management and Scheduling Report expressly provided the following: 

 

 

*** 

 
227 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 5. 
228 See Final Hearing Transcript, Day 2, pg. 350, lines 1-5; see also Day 2, 
pg. 388, lines 3-25. 
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*** 

 

*** 

 

In fact, as to the joint scheduling conference, the Respondent testified 

that at one point he was not going to attend, but attended anyway to serve 

as a peacemaker:229 

 
229 See Final Hearing Transcript, Day 3, page 456. 
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 The referee’s finding is also erroneous because the emergency motion 

for extension of time to file the Joint Final Pretrial Statement was filed by the 

Respondent to benefit the client, who could have been severely prejudiced 

had the deadline passed for the filing the Joint Final Pretrial Statement.  

Specifically, if the Respondent had not filed the emergency motion for 

extension of time, the Court could have entered a much harsher sanction 

that an unenforceable monetary sanction against Bussey-Morice, including 

striking of her pleadings according to the Case Management and Scheduling 

Order.  Instead of letting that happening, the Respondent filed the 

emergency motion, and Judge Honeywell granted said emergency motion.  

Additionally, adopting the referee’s position would be mean that any motion 

for extension of time filed by any lawyer in any case would be a violation of 

Rule 4-3.2.  Granted, The Florida Bar selectively and subjectively determines 

who it will and will not prosecute, but in any event, any and all attorneys who 
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move for an extension of time, even if it was for the benefit of their client, 

would be at risk for prosecution by The Florida Bar for violating Rule 4-3.2.  

Even the referee noted at the final hearing that he did not give too much 

weight to The Florida Bar’s argument concerning a purported violation of 

Rule 4-3.2.230  

The Florida Bar failed to present any evidence or testimony that proved 

that the Respondent was lead trial counsel for Bussey-Morice.  Since the 

Respondent was not lead counsel, and there was no record evidence to 

state, suggest or imply otherwise, the referee’s conclusion that a violation of 

4-3.2 occurred was clearly erroneous, as the emergency motion filed by the 

Respondent impeded the litigation.  The federal case law relied on by the 

Respondent – Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 27 – contradicts the referee’s 

interpretation of the Local Rule 3.01(g).  Further, Judge Honeywell could not 

have granted the motion prior to Local Rule 3.01(g) being satisfied.  

Additionally, the deadlines for trial were not extended because of the 

Respondent’s filing.   

The factual findings of the Referee on the purported violation of Rule 

4-3.2 are not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record.  

 
230 See Final Hearing Transcript, Day 3, pages 685. 
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Accordingly, this Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove by 

clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-3.2. 

F. Rule 4-3.4(c) (Fairness to Opposing Party and Counsel) 

The record is void of any evidence or testimony to support the referee’s 

conclusion that a violation of 4-3.4(c) occurred.  To the extent this Court 

concludes that there was sufficient record evidence for the referee to 

consider, the Respondent contends that the referee’s findings are erroneous, 

as said evidence in the record did not support the Referee’s findings, that 

the record evidence clearly contradicts the Referee’s conclusions, or that the 

record evidence was not competent and/or substantial. 

 Rule 4-3.4(c) provides that an attorney must not “knowingly disobey an 

obligation under the rules of a tribunal except for an open refusal based on 

an assertion that no valid obligation exists.”  The Florida Bar failed to proffer 

either testimony or introduce evidence that proves by clear and convincing 

evidence that the Respondent knowingly disobeyed an obligation under the 

rules of the tribunal.   

While the referee did not identify what he relied on to conclude that the 

Respondent violated Rule 4-3.4(c), the referee and The Florida Bar together 

took issue with the Respondent’s use of the phrase “Brutality Officer” to 

describe police officers accused of killing yet another unarmed Black man in 
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violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  The referee erroneously interpreted Judge 

Honeywell’s statements from the October 17, 2012, telephonic hearing to 

mean that the Respondent was prohibited from using the phrase “Brutality 

Officers” in his court filings:   

The referee’s interpretation of Judge Honeywell’s statement is 

erroneous because he mistakenly equated intertwining argument with facts 

as name-calling, and completely misunderstood Judge Honeywell’s directive 

to the Respondent to convey her sentiments to Patterson was because 

“some of the allegations that [had] been raised in [the] case were 

appalling.”231  Further, the referee clearly misconstrued the law concerning 

counsel’s ability to make argument based on available evidence, a common 

tactic used by state and prosecutors across the country, including Florida.232  

 
231 The Respondent attempted to depose Judge Honeywell in The Florida 
Bar’s prosecution proceeding of the Respondent to probe this issue, but 
because the referee’s subpoena power does not apply to federal officers, 
Judge Honeywell refused to make herself available for deposition or the final 
hearing.  This phenomena was addressed in the Respondent’s fundamental 
error arguments above, specifically, the Respondent being denied due 
process and compulsory process to defend himself against the heinous 
allegations of The Florida Bar. 
232 See Jackson v. Sec’y, Dep’t of Corr., 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 85907, at *26 
(M.D. Fla. June 21, 2012)(“The prosecutor’s characterization of Petitioner as 
a drug trafficker was a fair comment on the evidence presented . . . .”); see 
also United States v. Manning, 800 Fed. Appx. 868, 873 (11th Cir. 
2020)(quoting United States v. Bailey, 123 F.3d 1381, 1400 (11th Cir. 
1997)(“‘[A] prosecutor may not exceed the evidence,’ but he ‘may state 
conclusions drawn from the evidence.’”). 
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The Respondent recognizes that the referee disliked the Respondent 

arguing that police officers guilty of killing an unarmed Black man were 

Brutality Officers, but that is not synonymous to a violation of Rule 4-3.4(c).   

What was a clear violation of Rule 4-3.4(c) was the defendants’ 

attorneys failing to respond to discovery in this case despite the deadlines in 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the Local Rules.233  Another 

travesty is the Respondent being denied equal protection under the law, as 

the Respondent was treated differently and less favorably than similarly 

situated individuals of a different race, and The Florida Bar unequally applied 

its Rules for the specific purpose of intentionally discriminating against him 

(the Respondent).  The opposing attorneys are still being given a pass for 

failing to comply with the Rules, as they have yet to respond to the 

outstanding written discovery, yet the Black attorneys in the case – the 

Respondent and Patterson – are being vigorously prosecuted. 

There was evidence to support those allegations of police brutality or 

excessive force under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, including a dead body, deposition 

testimony and video-evidence showing that the decedent was not armed, the 

expert report, and the taser manufacturer’s literature, which expressly 

 
233 See The Florida Bar v. Marcellus, 249 So. 3d 538, 543 (Fla. 2018). 
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warned against deploying a taser anywhere near center mass on a person 

experiencing a psychotic episode.234  

Additionally, the defendants filed motions in limine concerning the use 

of the “Brutality Officers” phrase by the Respondent.235  In the motion, the 

defendants argument that there was not a shred of evidence showing that 

the police officers killed the decedent, even though they did, and that the 

force used was de minimis.  The Respondent prepared the response in 

opposition, and specifically addressed the appropriateness of the phrase: 

 

 
234 See Final Hearing Transcript, Day 3, pages 462-479; see also 
Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 12-13. 
235 See Respondent’s Trial Exhibits 57. 
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Lastly, as the Respondent pointed out in the final hearing and the sanction 

hearing, once the court had determined that the decedent’s killing was 

justified and the final judgment was entered, the Respondent no longer used 

the “Brutality Officers” phrase, as the Respondent respected the court’s 

findings. 

The Respondent’s use of the “Brutality Officers” phrase was a 

combination of empirical and conventional arguments, cleverly intertwining 

the tortious conduct supported by admissible evidence with the guilty 

subjects.  Referring to a law enforcement officer as a brutality officer in 

argument, based on evidence that supported the contention that said officer 

employed excessive force, is no different than a state or federal prosecutor 
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referring to a criminal defendant charged with trafficking ecstasy as a drug 

dealer, provided there is evidence of drugs.  The referee did not like it, but 

law permits it, making the referee’s findings erroneous. 

The factual findings of the Referee on the purported violation of Rule 

4-3.4(c) are not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record.  

Accordingly, this Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove by 

clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-3.4(c). 

G. Rule 4-3.5(c) (Impartiality & Decorum of the Tribunal);  
 

The record is void of any evidence or testimony to support the referee’s 

conclusion that a violation of 4-3.5(c) occurred as to the Respondent.  To the 

extent this Court concludes that there was sufficient record evidence for the 

referee to consider, the Respondent contends that said evidence in the 

record did not support the Referee’s findings, that the record evidence clearly 

contradicts the Referee’s conclusions, or that the record evidence was not 

competent and/or substantial.  Further, the Respondent had an objectively 

reasonable factual basis for making the statements. 

Rule 4-3.5(c) provides that a lawyer shall not engage in conduct 

intended to disrupt a tribunal.  The Florida Bar failed to proffer either 

testimony or introduce evidence that proves by clear and convincing 

evidence, or even suggests or otherwise implies that the Respondent 
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engaged in conduct intended to disrupt a tribunal.  In The Florida Bar’s initial 

brief, The Florida Bar does not point to any particular statements that 

establish the Respondent’s intent to disrupt the tribunal.  Further, the referee 

did not identify what he relied on to conclude that the Respondent violated 

Rule 4-3.5(c), which in and of itself is problematic because the Respondent 

is left to challenge said purported rule violation blindly.   

This Court has identified attorneys being combative with the judge in 

hearing, kicking the leg of the opposing counsel’s table behavior in a legal 

proceeding, overheard stating “lie, lie, lie” in open court while the opposing 

attorney conducted direct examination, and arguing combatively with the 

judge after the judge sustained an objection as instances where an attorney 

violated Rule 4-3.5(c)236 

The Respondent agrees with The Florida Bar that intent is deliberate 

or knowing conduct, but proffers that The Florida Bar failed to introduce any 

evidence or testimony that the Respondent ever intended to disrupt the 

tribunal, and the record is void of competent and/or substantial evidence 

proving that the Respondent intentionally sought to disrupt the tribunal.  In 

fact, even The Florida Bar acknowledges that Rule 4-3.5(c) is aimed at 

 
236 See The Florida Bar v. Norkin, 132 So. 3d 77, 82 (Fla. 2013); see also The 
Florida Bar v. Ratiner, 238 So. 3d 117, 119-120 (Fla. 2018). 
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disruptive conduct in open court, and the record is void of any such evidence.  

Nothing the Respondent did caused unnecessary hearings or required court 

personnel to handle matters that purported disrupted the tribunal.   

The factual findings of the Referee on the purported violation of Rule 

4-3.5(c) are not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record.  

Accordingly, this Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove by 

clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-3.5(c). 

H. Rule 4-8.2(a) (Impugning the Integrity of Judicial Official) 
 

The record is void of any evidence or testimony to support the referee’s 

conclusion that a violation of 4-8.2(a) occurred.  To the extent this Court 

concludes that there was sufficient record evidence for the referee to 

consider, the Respondent contends that said evidence in the record did not 

support the Referee’s findings, that the record evidence clearly contradicts 

the Referee’s conclusions, or that the record evidence is not competent 

and/or substantial.  Additionally, the Respondent established that he had an 

objectively reasonable basis for making the statements. 

The referee’s report and recommendation identified comments made 

by the Respondent (pages 21-22 of report and recommendation), suggesting 

that said comments questioned the integrity of Judge Mendoza.  The 

referee’s report and recommendation further pointed to Judge Mendoza’s 



 82 

testimony at the final hearing wherein Judge Mendoza stated that said 

comments “crossed the line” because, he felt, the statements questioned his 

integrity and lack of objectivity.  The referee concluded as to the 

Respondent’s comments, the Respondent “believes them all to be true,” and 

while the Respondent further sought to obtain further evidence supporting 

his statements, that was not standard, completely glossing over 

Respondent’s testimony that the statements he made were actually true.  

The referee’s recognition that the Respondent sought to obtain information 

pertaining to Judges Honeywell and Mendoza, as well as Clerk Warren, but 

could not, further supports the denial of due process and compulsory process 

referenced above.  

Additionally, the objectively reasonable basis for making the 

statements were obvious based on the statements themselves.  For 

example, the referee pointed to a statement made by the Respondent 

concerning not being surprised that the Eleventh Circuit ruled in favor of the 

officers.  This statement, which parallels the public outcry concerning how 

law enforcement responds to Black people without consequences, is 

essentially a criticism of the judicially-created doctrine of qualified immunity 

which, prior to video-recordings of police brutality being made available via 

social media and the news media, foreclosed on the vast majority of 
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excessive use of force cased brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  The objective 

reasonable basis for making that statement is that the judicially-created 

doctrine of qualified immunity should be reexamined and arguably legislated 

by Congress because the federal courts have raised the threshold for 

overcoming it to near impossible heights. 

The second statement noted by the referee addressing the “not 

necessarily a surprise” statement even mentioned the surplus of case law 

within the Eleventh Circuit that shields law enforcement officers and police 

departments from liability.  The objective reasonable basis for making the 

statement was to provide support for why qualified immunity needs to be 

examined by Congress. 

The third statement noted by the referee broaches the Respondent 

being encouraged by public outcry and the actions of the Department of 

Justice concerning civil rights violations and making the country better when 

it appears as though law enforcement conduct is not changing and the 

temperament of the courts concerning civil rights cases has not changed.  

The objective reasonable basis for that statement is that everyday citizens 

are questioning the application of qualified immunity, prompting the 

governing to investigate how civil rights cases are being handled by the 

federal courts. 
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The fourth statement concerning allegations of the opposing attorneys 

being accepted as truthful concerned bias by the court, a point the 

Respondent argued before the trial and appellate court in the Civil Rights 

Case and the Petition for Writ of Mandamus.  The objective reasonable basis 

for making that statement was pointing out to the federal court its disposition 

to accept the representations of the defense attorneys in the face of 

conflicting evidence, which could be basis for a claim of bias. 

The fifth statement concerning intimidation from the court and having 

never dealt with that prior to being before Judge Mendoza was the actual 

forecasting of what the Respondent is now experiencing.  The objective 

reasonable basis for the statement was that it was a plea for help from the 

higher court.237   

The Florida Bar seems to equate an allegation of bias to an allegation 

that someone is racist, or at least when the allegations is made by the 

Respondent.  While bias and racism can coexist, the Respondent’s claims 

of bias stem from repeated due process violations and a brazen willingness 

to disregard the governing rules of procedure and case law to reach a 

conclusion adverse to the Respondent.  The Respondent did not make any 

of the statements to insult, or offend, or discredit.  The statements were not 

 
237 The Respondent was unaware of the Judicial Council at that time. 
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made to impugn Judge Mendoza’s integrity.  Instead, the statements were 

made because it was required by the justice of cause with which the 

Respondent was charged, zealously advocating for his client, but also 

challenging deviations in procedure which, in turn, would likely diminish 

public confidence in the impartiality of the judiciary.238 

The Respondent contends that the referee’s findings of fact and 

conclusions as to guilt are not supported by the evidence in the record, as 

none of the comments made by the Respondent questioned Judge 

Mendoza’s integrity or the integrity of the judiciary.  Arguments made by the 

Respondent questioned only impartiality, something permitted by the federal 

rules, the Judicial Conduct and Disability Act of 1980 (28 U.S.C. §§ 351-364) 

and case law, and were supported by record evidence and testimony, 

including Judge Mendoza’s own testimony in his deposition and at the final 

hearing.   

This Court has pointed to Canon 2A which, in pertinent part, states that 

a judge “shall act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in 

the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary,” recognizing that members of 

the judiciary can in fact reduce said public confidence in the integrity and 

 
238 See Code of Conduct for United States Judges, Canon 1. 
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impartiality of the judiciary.239  The Respondent recognizes that the ethical 

rules on this issues are to preserve public confidence in the fairness and 

impartiality of our system of justice, but suggests that The Florida Bar 

opposes some attorneys pointing out impartiality within the system.  The 

Florida Bar also appears to suggest that the Respondent’s filing of the 

complaint with the Judicial Council, or suing Clerk Warren in federal court, 

impugned the judges’ integrity, when in fact, the Respondent’s complaints 

within the various forums never attacked the integrity of the judges.   

In order to maintain a cause of action against Clerk Warren, the 

Respondent had to allege ultra vires action – action beyond her authority – 

as it would then not “against the government” for purposes of sovereign 

immunity.240  The United States Supreme Court expressly provides that 

lawsuits against federal officials like Clerk Warren can advance when it has 

been alleged that said federal official’s actions were ultra vires of statutorily 

 
239 See Inquiry Concerning a Judge (Adams), 932 So. 2d 1025, 1026 (Fla. 
2006). 
240 See See E.V. v. Robinson, 906 F.3d 1082, 1096 (9th Cir. 2018); see also 
Busby v. O’Neal, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22017, at *6 (M.D. Fla. June 28, 
2000)(citing Alabama Rural Fire Ins. Co. v. Naylor, 530 F.2d 1221, 1226 (5th 
Cir. 1976)); see also Good v. Silver, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25354, at *5 (M.D. 
Fla. December 10, 2002). 
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delegated authority because such said actions “are considered individual 

and not sovereign actions.”241  

Further, the statements were not proffered to insult or offend Judge 

Mendoza, even though he was bias based on the evidence, but instead to 

compel Judge Mendoza to review the evidence through an objective lens, 

the objective reasonable basis for making the statements.  The referee did 

not identify any statements made by the Respondent that were false, but 

instead that he did not like the statements and that the Respondent made 

them. 

  Further, while the Respondent’s statements questioned Judge 

Mendoza’s lack of objectivity, said comments were in fact true and supported 

by record evidence in the Civil Rights Case.  At the final hearing, the 

Respondent pointed out some of the objective evidence showing bias.  

Specifically, the Respondent pointed to being denied due process on 

multiple occasions by Judge Mendoza when he granted motions filed by the 

opposing attorneys without affording Bussey-Morice an opportunity to 

respond, being denied due process by granting the opposing attorneys’ 

motion based on an argument not raised by the movant, but instead the 

 
241 See Larson v. Domestic & Foreign Commerce Corp., 337 U.S. 682, 689 
(1949); see also Dugan v. Rank, 372 U.S. 609 (1963). 
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Court, without giving Bussey-Morice notice and an opportunity to respond, 

Judge Mendoza’s abandoning the law of the case to achieve the objective of 

sanctioning the Respondent, and Judge Mendoza’s abandoning of Rule 7(b) 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Rule 3.01(f) to conclude 

that a letter from a law firm not connected to the Civil Rights Case (Alan 

& LockePLLC) to the Clerk’s Office, which was then filed as a motion 

to disqualify Judge Mendoza filed by Bussey-Morice, was in fact a motion to 

disqualify when Rule 7(b) and Local Rule 3.01(f) expressly say otherwise.  

Judge Mendoza also granted defense counsel attorney’s fees when they 

were entitled under Rule 11, but denied the Respondent attorney’s fees 

when he was entitled under Rule 11.  Judge Mendoza’s deposition testimony 

of this proceeding (Respondent’s Trial Exhibit 22) and testimony at the final 

hearing further mirrored the Respondent’s testimony concerning bias.   

The referee has not pointed to anything said by the Respondent that 

the he knew to be false or with reckless disregard as to its truth or falsity 

concerning the integrity of a judge.  The referee’s findings were clearly 

erroneous based on the actual evidence and, in fact, there was no 

evidentiary support for the referee to concluding the finding of guilt as to Rule 

4-8.2(a).  Accordingly, the factual findings of the referee on the purported 

violation of Rule 4-8.2(a) are not supported by competent, substantial 
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evidence in the record.  In fact, the evidence contradicts the referee’s 

findings.  This, this Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove 

by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-

8.2(a). 

I. Rule 4-8.4(d) (Misconduct) 

The Respondent failed to identify which conduct he relied on to 

conclude that a violation had occurred.  The Florida Bar points to what it calls 

the “various legal action against the Clerk, seeking to prove that this 

mundane transfer of cases to a new judge was somehow a grand conspiracy 

to harm him or his client . . .” as the basis for the purported Rule 4-8.4(d) 

violation, but that position was never stated, suggested or implying by the 

referee as the basis for his finding concerning Rule 4-8.4(d). 

What The Florida Bar appears to take issue with is the Respondent 

having access to the courts for redress of any injury and/or injustice, and 

actually exercising that right, a right established by Article I, section 21 of the 

Florida Constitution and the United States Constitution.242  As noted above, 

 
242 See Strohm v. Hertz Corp./Hertz Claim Mgmt., 685 So. 2d 37, 39 (Fla. 
1996); see also Christopher v. Harbury, 536 U.S. 403, 414-415 
(2002)(“Whether an access claim turns on a litigating opportunity yet to be 
gained or an opportunity already lost, the very point of recognizing 
any access claim is to provide some effective vindication for a separate and 
distinct right to seek judicial relief for some wrong.”). 
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“[t]he right to sue and defend in the courts is the alternative of force . . . it is 

the right conservative of all other rights, and lies at the foundation of orderly 

government . . . is one of the highest and most essential privileges of 

citizenship, and must be allowed by each State to the citizens of all other 

States to the precise extent that it is allowed to its own citizens . . . [and] is 

granted and protected by the Federal Constitution.”243  As the Respondent 

testified, he took certain legal actions to obtain information that would benefit 

his client in the Civil Right Case and himself in this proceeding because he 

never thought in a million years that Judge Mendoza would make himself 

available for deposition.  The Respondent legitimately questioned the validity 

of all Orders entered by Judge Mendoza because he lacked exclusive 

jurisdiction, which is directly connected to the questionable reassignment, 

but the federal courts precluded the Respondent from gaining access to the 

information that would have answered those questions, even though it was 

permissible under federal law.244  

 
243 See Chambers, 207 U.S. at 148. 
244 See In re Brown, 346 F.2d 903, 910-911 (5th Cir. 1965)(Respondent’s 
Trial Exhibit 34).  The Eleventh Circuit knowingly rejected the binding 
precedent of case law from the old Fifth Circuit.  Further, the panel but did 
not have the benefit of Judge Mendoza’s deposition from this proceeding 
admitting that the Local Rules were not suspended for purposes of 
reassigning the case to him from Judge Honeywell, he neither saw nor was 
aware of a Standing Order signed by the Chief Judge or any other judge 
reassigning the Civil Rights Case from Judge Honeywell to Judge Mendoza, 
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The factual findings of the referee on the purported violation of Rule 4-

8.2(a) are not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record.  

In fact, the referee failed to identify what facts he relied on to support his 

findings.  The Florida Bar pointed to the Respondent having access to the 

courts as the problem, but as the United States Supreme Court pointed out, 

having access to the court ““is one of the highest and most essential 

privileges of citizenship, and must be allowed by each State to the citizens 

of all other States to the precise extent that it is allowed to its own citizens.”245  

Thus, this Court must conclude that The Florida Bar failed to prove by clear 

and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-8.2(a). 

J. Referee Failed to Property Weigh and 
Consider the Mitigating Factors in  
Recommending the Appropriate Sanction 

 
The recommended sanction of a 90-day suspension was too severe 

under the circumstances.  The mitigators – the absence of a prior disciplinary 

history, absence of a dishonest or selfish motive, timely good faith effort to 

rectify the consequence of the purported misconduct, the Respondent’s full 

 
that Judge Honeywell never reassigned the Civil Rights Case to Judge 
Mendoza, and that for a reassignment of occur in the normal course and 
pursuant to the Local Rules, he would have had to consent to the 
reassignment, and at no point did he ever consent.  Judge Mendoza further 
testified that he and Judge Honeywell never discussed the Civil Rights Case 
being reassigned to Judge Mendoza. 
245 See Chambers v. Baltimore & O. R. Co., 207 U.S. 142, 148 (1907). 
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disclosure and cooperation with the proceedings, his compliance with the 

federal court’s sanctions, the emotional trauma stemming from a long history 

of being exposed to racism, the post-traumatic stress and conditions of Black 

Americans who have suffered from encounters with racism and, if the Court 

concludes that a conflict of interest existed, the lack of harm to his client and 

withdrawal of the argument – does not support suspension. 

In March 2021, this Court reprimanded a judicial candidate that was 

found to have “violated numerous Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (Bar 

Rules) and several sections of Canon 7 of the Florida Code of Judicial 

Conduct, which also constituted violations of the Bar Rules . . . .”246  There, 

the respondent was found guilty of violating Bar Rules 3-4.3 (Misconduct and 

Minor Misconduct) and 4-8.2(a) (Judicial and Legal Officials; Impugning 

Qualifications and Integrity of Judges or Other Officers), among other rules.  

The respondent in that case was found guilty of implying that a judge that 

presided over criminal cases was biased in favor of prosecutors and law 

enforcement.  This Court determined that a public reprimand was 

appropriate.247 

 
246 See The Florida Bar v. Aven, 317 So. 3d 1095 (Fla. 2021). 
247 See Aven, 317 So. 3d at 1097. 
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 This Court also dealt with a respondent found guilty of bringing a 

frivolous action against a co-defendant (Rule 4-3.1), conduct prejudicial to 

the administration of justice (Rule 4-8.4(d)), and failure to expedite 

proceedings (Rule 4-3.2).248  The respondent filed a frivolous lawsuit against 

a defendant, then opposing party’s attorney and then delayed unnecessarily 

dismissing said lawsuit.  This Court concluded that a public reprimand and 

one-year probation was appropriate.249 

 This Court deal with a respondent found guilty of violating Rule 4-3.5(c) 

when deposed a sitting judge for the sole purpose of harassing and 

embarrassing him during a JQC proceeding.  The respondent’s mitigating 

factors included no prior disciplinary history, that he was cooperative towards 

the proceedings, and that he had already been sanctioned by the JQC.  This 

Court concluded that a public reprimand was appropriate. 

 The Florida Bar relied heavily on a 2018 case against Patterson to 

support a one-year suspension for the Respondent.250  In that case, this 

Court concluded that Patterson improperly communicated with a judge about 

an on-going case, knowingly made false statements in improper 

communications to the judiciary and in an appeal that disparaged opposing 

 
248 See The Florida Bar v. Thomas, 582 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 1991). 
249 See Thomas, 582 So. 2d at 1178. 
250 See The Florida Bar v. Patterson, 257 So. 3d 56 (Fla. 2018). 
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counsel and judges in violation of Rule 4-8.2(a), and continued to represent 

a client before the trial court and through her entire appeal when a conflict of 

interest existed between he and his client in violation of Rule 4-1.7.251  

Patterson did not attempt to proffer an objectively reasonable factual basis 

for his statements.  Further, on the conflict of interest issue, it was 

determined that Patterson used the appellate rights of his client to assert his 

own interests, as Patterson failed to identify himself as an appealing party in 

the notice of appeal.  It was also determined that Patterson had a significant 

financial interest in the outcome of the appeal because the trial court’s 

sanction of paying the defendant’s attorney’s fees totaling $160,000.00 were 

ordered against Patterson and his client equally.  This Court further found 

that Patterson’s loyalty to his client was compromised because of 

Patterson’s significant financial interest in the outcome, and that Patterson 

failed to obtain his client’s consent, confirmed in writing, to his continued 

representation of her.  This Court further noted that Patterson’s financial 

interest in the outcome, among other things, supplanted his independent 

judgment and the loyalty he owed his client.  Notably, Patterson did not file 

an answer brief in his own defense.  Relying on the initial brief submitted by 

The Florida Bar, this Court disapproved the referee’s findings and 

 
251 See The Florida Bar v. Patterson, 257 So. 3d 56 (Fla. 2018). 
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recommendations, and concluded that a one-year suspension was 

appropriate for Patterson.252 

 Unlike the Patterson case, in this case, at no point did the Respondent 

improperly communicate with a judge about an on-going case, at no point 

did the Respondent knowingly make false statements in improper 

communications to the judiciary and in an appeal that disparaged opposing 

counsel and judges, and at no point did the Respondent continue to 

represent his client before the trial court and appellate court in the face of an 

existing conflict of interest.  Further, as to the conflict of interest issue, at no 

point did the Respondent have a significant financial interest in the outcome 

of the appeal concerning the monetary sanction of attorney’s fees, as the 

sanction ordered by Judge Mendoza was not appeal and the Respondent 

timely paid the sanction.  Further, the monetary sanctions in question were 

not appealed.  Additionally, as argued above, at no point did a conflict of 

interest exist between the Respondent and his client, that Judge Honeywell’s 

sanctioning of Bussey-Morice to pay the defense counsel’s attorney’s fees 

incurred for the preparation of the Joint Final Pretrial Statement was an 

unenforceable sanction under Florida law, that Judge Mendoza changed the 

law of the case in order to sanction the Respondent (who was not lead trial 

 
252 See Patterson, 257 So. 3d at 66. 



 96 

counsel), and that the Respondent complied with Judge Mendoza’s directive 

by paying the sanction before ever raising the legal argument concerning the 

change-of-the-law doctrine, thereby eliminating any possible harm to 

Bussey-Morice.  Additionally, the legal argument concerning the change-of-

the-law doctrine was withdrawn within two business days.  Additionally, to 

the extent the Respondent appealed rulings impacting him directly, the 

Respondent properly named himself as an appellant.  Lastly, the 

Respondent provided the referee and this Court with objectively reasonable 

factual basis for his statements that were disliked by the referee. 

 The 2018 Patterson case is significantly distinguishable from the facts 

before this Court and should not be relied on or considered in determining 

an appropriate sanction for the Respondent. 

K. Amended Motion to Assess Costs 

 The Florida Bar filed its Amended Motion to Assess Costs on March 

12, 2021 to recover $13,622.80.  In its Amended Motion, The Florida Bar 

sought recovery of Administrative Costs - $1,250.00, Bar Counsel Costs - 

$856.66 (which included the March 18, 2020, deposition in Orlando and the 

Final Hearing in Orlando), Referee Costs - $830.14 (which included the cost 

of travel to Orlando), Staff Investigative Costs - $145.00 (which consisted of 

the costs of serving subpoenas), Court Reporter Costs - $10,481.00 (which 
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included three hearing transcripts from the Final Hearing totaling $7,510.00), 

and Service of Subpoena - $60.00.  The Florida Bar relied on Rule 3-7.6(q) 

to support the Amended Motion to Assess Costs. 

 At the March 15, 2021, hearing on The Florida Bar’s Amended Motion 

to Assess Costs, Locke challenged (i) some of the Court Reporter Costs – 

the three hearing transcripts from the Final Hearing – as unnecessary and 

excessive and (ii) all of the costs sought by The Florida Bar as improperly 

authenticated.   

 The Respondent argued that The Florida Bar failed to properly 

authenticate any of the taxable costs The Florida Bar sought to recover from 

the Respondent.  Specifically, The Florida Bar filed only its Amended Motion 

to Assess Costs, which itemed the costs The Florida Bar sought to recover.  

The Florida Bar did not file any invoices from any service providers, and did 

not file any sworn affidavits authenticating any of the taxable costs it sought 

to recover from the Respondent.  The Florida Bar’s response to the 

Respondent’s argument was only that it provided invoices from the court 

reporters to the Respondent’s counsel, and that The Florida Bar could 

retrieve affidavits from the court reporters later if necessary.  The Referee 

accepted the argument proffered by The Florida Bar, completely 

disregarding Rule 3-7.6(q)(3) and the case law cited by the Respondent 
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concerning The Florida Bar’s failure to show that the costs were properly 

authenticated.253  Rule 3-7.6(q)(3) expressly provides that “the referee may 

assess the bar’s costs against the respondent unless it is shown that the 

costs of the bar were unnecessary, excessive or improperly authenticated.”  

The Respondent showed that The Florida Bar failed to show that the costs 

of the final hearings were necessary and failed that all of the costs of The 

Florida Bar were not authenticated. 

 In the Carson case, the respondent challenged the costs recoverable 

by the The Florida Bar as not properly authenticated.254  Citing to Rule 3-

7.6(o)(which is now Rule 3-7.6(q)), the Florida Supreme Court relied on The 

Florida Bar’s counsel’s sworn affidavit of costs to concluded that the taxable 

costs sought by the Bar had been properly authenticated.255  Unlike Carson, 

in the case before this Court, the record is void of any evidence 

authenticating any of the costs purportedly procured by The Florida Bar, as 

Bar counsel failed to file an affidavit signed under oath authenticating The 

Florida Bar’s purported costs. Further, there were no sworn affidavits from 

any of The Florida Bar’s purported vendors authenticate costs incurred by 

The Florida Bar.  Lastly, there was no testimony given under oath by The 

 
253 See The Florida Bar v. Whitney, 132 So. 3d 1095, 1109 (Fla. 2013). 
254 See The Florida Bar v. Carson, 737 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1999). 
255 See Carson, 737 So. 2d at 1073. 
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Florida Bar’s counsel during the cost hearing to authenticate The Florida 

Bar’s purported costs incurred in prosecuting the Respondent.  Since the 

Respondent has shown that The Florida Bar failed to properly authenticate 

any of its costs, and The Florida Bar essentially acquiesced that its costs had 

not been properly authenticated, The Florida Bar’s Amended Motion to 

Assess Costs should be summarily denied. 

As for the three hearing transcripts from the Final Hearing, Locke 

argued that they were unnecessary for The Florida Bar and that the cost of 

said hearing transcripts was excessive, primarily because the cost per page 

was excessive.  Again siding with The Florida Bar, the Referee argued that 

he needed the three hearing transcripts from the Final Hearing to prepare 

his Report, even though he sat through the 3-day Final Hearing and 

questioned the lawyers during closing argument.  While the Referee 

appeared to agree with the Respondent that the cost of the three hearing 

transcripts from the Final Hearing appeared excessive, he nonetheless ruled 

to allow The Florida Bar to recover those costs.   

Rule 3-7.6 allows for the recovery of “court reporters’ fees,” but not for 

original transcripts; Rule 3-7.6 allows for cost of copies, not original 

documents.  The cost for the court reporter was $650.00 per day for 3 days, 

or a total of $1,950.00. Assuming the taxable costs had been properly 
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authenticated by The Florida Bar, $1,950.00 would be recoverable from the 

Respondent.  However, the cost of the original transcripts at $5.50 per page 

are not recoverable costs under Rule 3-7.6(q).  Similarly, a court reporter’s 

“overtime pay” does not fall within the parameters of recoverable costs under 

Rule 3-7.6(q).   

Accordingly, The Florida Bar’s Amended Motion to Assess Costs 

should be summarily denied because the costs were not authenticated under 

Rule 3-7.6(q).  If this Court concludes that authentication is not required 

despite the plain language of the Rule, then The Florida Bar’s costs sought 

should be reduced by $7,510.00, which was the total cost of the three 

transcripts for the Final Hearing. 

CONCLUSION 
 

The Florida Bar prosecuted the Respondent at the urging of the federal 

government because the Respondent inadvertently stumbled across a 

means of manipulating case outcomes.  The Respondent expressly 

identified the bias of a federal judge, he requested information that he is 

legally entitled to but is never sought, and he went as far as filing a petition 

for writ of mandamus and suing the Clerk in federal court to gain access to 

information that would benefit his client and himself.  In his attempt to seek 

justice, it was not the Respondent’s intent to offend or insult, nor did he intend 
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to tarnish a party’s or witness’ reputation.  But justice of the cause with which 

the Respondent was charged required raising certain legal issues and 

pointing out certain maneuvering within the administration of the federal 

courts that compromise the integrity of the legal system. 

A ninety-day suspension is not supported by the evidence in this 

proceeding, and definitely not a one-year suspension sought by The Florida 

Bar.  Instead, the referee’s report and recommendation should be 

disapproved on all findings of guilt, the Respondent should not be 

sanctioned, and the requests for costs sought by The Florida Bar should be 

summarily denied. 

Dated: September 3, 2021.   Respectfully submitted, 

 
       /s/ 

______________________________ 
       Wendell Locke, For the Firm 
       Florida Bar No. 119260 
       wendell@lockefirm.com  
        
       LOCKE LAW, P.A. 

Attorneys for the Respondent 
       8201 Peters Road 
       Suite 1000 
       Plantation, Florida 33324 
       954.382.8858 telephone 
       954.827.0998 facsimile 
       www.lockefirm.com  
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